UNIVERSITY FOR DEVELOPMENT STUDIES

DESIGN, CONSTRUCTION AND PERFORMANCE TEST OF WASTEWATER SLUDGE FILTER IN THE TOLON DISTRICT OF THE NORTHERN REGION OF GHANA

DANIEL ALUAH

OCTOBER, 2022

UNIVERSITY FOR DEVELOPMENT STUDIES

DESIGN, CONSTRUCTION, AND PERFORMANCE TEST OF WASTEWATER SLUDGE FILTER IN THE TOLON DISTRICT OF THE NORTHERN REGION OF GHANA

BY

DANIEL ALUAH

(BSc. Agriculture Technology)

(UDS/MID/0001/20)

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURAL ENGINEERING, SCHOOL OF ENGINEERING, UNIVERSITY FOR DEVELOPMENT STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF A MASTER OF PHILOSOPHY DEGREE IN IRRIGATION AND DRAINAGE ENGINEERING

DECLARATION

DECLARATION BY CANDIDATE

I hereby declare that this thesis is the result of my original work and that no part of it has been presented for a degree at this university or elsewhere. The work of others, which served as sources of information for this study, has been duly acknowledged in the form of references.

Daniel Aluah (UDS/MID/0001/20)

Signature

21/12/ 2022 Date

DECLARATION BY SUPERVISORS

I hereby declare that the preparation and presentation of the thesis were supervised per the guidelines on supervision of the thesis laid down by the University for Development Studies.

Ing. Prof. Abdul-Ganiyu Shaibu_ (Principal Supervisor)

ant

Signature

21/12/2022 Date

Dr. Thomas Apusiga Adongo (Co-Supervisor)

Signature

Kom

tt

21/12/2022 Date

Dr. Eliasu Salifu

(Head of Department)

Ing. Prof. Felix K. Abagale (Director of WACWISA)

Signature

22/12/2022

Date

22/12/2022 Date

ABSTRACT

Wastewater sludge has garnered global interest since its generation in terms of source, volume, quality, treatment, disposal, or reuse. It has an impact on human life and other natural resources, most notably fragile ecosystems. The study was carried out at the Savannah Research Institute (SARI) in the Tolon District of the Northern Region of Ghana. The main objective was to design, construct and test the performance of a filter for the treatment of wastewater sludge for irrigation. The filter design consisted of two poly tanks, with one labeled as a sedimentation tank and the other one as a filtration tank. Both tanks' specifications were; the flow rate of the sedimentation tank was 0.18 L/s, the height of the tank was 1.52 m, the diameter was 1.23 m, the surface area of the tank was 0.19 m² and the volume was 1.81 m³. The sedimentation tank was installed to accommodate the wastewater sludge for pretreatment. HDPE pipe of 100 m was connected to a 35 m³/h gasoline pump to lift the wastewater sludge from a 100 m distance from the source to the sedimentation tank. The filtration tank was filled with local geologic materials such as crushed stones, chipping stones, and river sand. Each layer had a height of 0.4 m and the total bed height was 1.2 m. The order of the arrangement of roughing filter materials was crushed stones as the first layer at the bottom of the tank with sizes ranging from 18-24 mm, chippings at the second layer with sizes of 8-12 mm, and the third layer river sand with sizes of 4-8 mm. The filtration velocity and up-flow velocity were 1.5 m/h. The most porous material among the three (3) filter materials used are crushed stones, which had a porosity of 44.7 %. However, river sand was almost non-porous, recording a value of 5.9 %. After the wastewater sludge from the sedimentation tanks which contain alumium salts, suspended solids and sediments had been filtered with the constructed roughing filter, desirable levels of physical, chemical, nutrient, and microbiological parameters were obtained, and they were within the acceptable limits of FAO or WHO, or EPA. The pH level moved from 6.20 before filtration to 6.61 after filtration; from 102.67 to 0 mg/L after filtration for TDS, and 8198.67 to 19.0 NTU after treatment for turbidity. The salinity level dropped significantly from 201 to 0.002 mg/L representing 99.99 % removal efficiency. Dissolved oxygen (DO) also improved as well as the other parameters. The total coliform, faecal coliform, and E.coli count reduced drastically from 200 to 100 cfu/100 ml, 60 to 8 cfu/100 ml, and 25 to 4 cfu/100 ml respectively. It is recommended that the filtered and unfiltered wastewater sludge generated at SARI water treatment plants can be used to irrigate various kinds of vegetables to monitor the impact of the filtered and unfiltered wastewater sludge on the growth and yield of these vegetables. Also, there is a need to establish infrastructure and rehabilitation of broken structures at already existing plants to accommodate wastewater sludge at water treatment plants across the country to further treat this wastewater for irrigation purposes especially in water-scarce areas to help feed the ever-growing population.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express heartfelt gratitude to the Almighty God whose grace and mercies have seen me through this study. This study was made possible through the support provided by the West African Centre for Water, Irrigation and Sustainable Agriculture (WACWISA), University for Development Studies, Ghana with funding support from the Government of Ghana and the World Bank through the African Centres of Excellence for Development Impact (ACE Impact) initiative. I am highly indebted to my supervisors; Ing. Prof. Abdul-Ganiyu Shaibu and Dr. Thomas Apusiga Adongo who guided the course of this study. Thank you for your time, guidance, and input.

I am thankful to all the Lecturers, African Water Corridor (water for impact student colloquium TU Delft), Council for Scientific and Industrial Research-Savannah Agricultural Research Institute (CSIR – SARI) and the Administrators of WACWISA especially the Director, Ing. Prof. Felix K. Abagale and UDS who in one way or another have contributed to making my entire study successful.

I would also like to thank each one who provided some assistance to me during the fieldwork.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to my family.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE	PAGE
DECLARATION	<i>i</i>
ABSTRACT	<i>ii</i>
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
DEDICATION	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	v
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF TABLES	x
LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS	xi
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background	
1.2 Problem Statement and Justification	2
1.3 Objectives of the Study	5
1.3.1 Specific Objectives	5
1.4 Research Question	5
1.5 Thesis Structure	6
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	7
2.1 Overview of Wastewater and Treatment Processes	7
2.2 Physical Properties of Wastewater	9
2.2.1 Total Suspended Solids (TSS)	9
2.2.2 Total Dissolved Solids (TDS)	
2.2.3 pH	
2.2.4 Turbidity	
2.2.5 Electrical Conductivity (EC)	
2.2.6 Temperature	
2.2.7 Salinity	
2.3 Macro-nutrient in Wastewater	

2.3.1 Nitrogen	
2.3.2 Phosphorus	14
2.3.3 Potassium	15
2.4 Chemical Properties of Wastewater	15
2.4.1 Biological Oxygen Demand	15
2.4.2 Chemical Oxygen Demand	16
2.5 Biological Properties of Wastewater	16
2.5.1 Escherichia Coli	16
2.5 Threats of Wastewater Usage	16
2.5.1 Microbial Threat to Public Health	17
2.5.2 Chemical Threat to Public Health	18
2.5.3 Wastewater Threat to the Soil	18
2.6 Wastewater Treatment – An Outlook on Sludge	19
2.6.1 Forms of Sludge	20
2.6.2 Sludge Treatment	
2.7 Filtration and Filtering Methods	25
2.7.1 Roughing Filter	
2.7.2 Classification of Roughing Filters	
2.7.3 Types of Roughing Filter	29
2.7.4 Components and Design Considerations of Roughing Filter	30
2.7.5 Operation and Maintenance of Roughing Filters	31
2.8 Benefits of Recycling and Reuse of Wastewater for Irrigation	32
2.9 Guidelines for the Safe Reuse of Wastewater for Irrigated Agriculture	34
2.9 Wastewater and Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs 6)	37
CHAPTER THREE: MATERIALS AND METHODS	39
3.1 Description of the Study Area	39
3.2 Materials and Equipment Used for the Study	40
3.3 Setup of the Sedimentation Tank	42
3.4 Design Parameters of Vertical Sedimentation Tank	44
3.5 Setup of Filtration Tank	44
3.6 Design Parameters of a Roughing Filter	45

3.7 Calculating the Necessary Parameters of the Sedimentation and Filtration Tanks	46
3.8 Washing of Filter Materials	47
3.9 Physical Properties of Filter Media	47
3.10 Sample Collection	48
3.11 Laboratory Analysis of Wastewater Sludge Parameters	49
3.11.1 Determination of Ammonia	50
3.11.2 Determination of Phosphate Phosphorus	50
3.11.3 Determination of Total Phosphorous	51
3.11.4 Determination of Nitrate-Nitrogen	52
3.11.5 Determination of Total and Faecal Coliform	52
3.11.6 Determination of Nitrate	53
3.11.7 Determination of Nitrite	54
3.11.8 Determination of Phosphorus	54
3.11.9 Determination of Electrical Conductivity	54
3.11.10 Determination of Turbidity	55
3.11.11 Determination of pH	55
3.11.12 Determination of Dissolved Oxygen	56
3.11.13 Determination of Biochemical Oxygen Demand	57
3.12 Data Analysis	58
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	59
4.1 Design and Installation of Roughing Filter for Sludge Filtration	59
4.1.1 Design of Roughing Filter	59
4.1.2 Physical Properties of Filter Materials Used	63
4.2 Operation and Maintenance of the Filtration System	64
4.3 Properties of Wastewater Sludge Before and After Filtration	64
4.3.1 Physical Properties of Wastewater Sludge Before and After Filtration	65
4.3.2 Chemical Properties of Wastewater Sludge Before and After Filtration	68
4.3.3 Nutrient Concentrations Levels in Wastewater Sludge Before and After Filtration.	71
4.3.4 Microbial Levels in Wastewater Before and After Filtration	72
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	75

APPENDICES	
REFERENCES	
5.2 Recommendations	
5.1 Conclusions	

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE	PAGE
Figure 2.1: Sludge Treatment Flowchart	25
Figure 3.1: Map of Ghana Showing Tolon District and CSIR-SARI	39
Figure 3.2: Materials for Roughing Filter Setup	42
Figure 3.3: Inner View of the Inlet Pipe (Left) and Inlet Pipe Network (right)	44
Figure 3.4: Inner View of the Inlet Pipe (Left) and Inlet Pipe Network (right)	45
Figure 3.5: Determination of Physical Properties of Filter Materials	48
Figure 4.1: Design of a Filter System for Wastewater Sludge Treatment	59
Figure 4.2: Design of a Filter Distribution and Drainage System Installed in the Filtration Tank	
	60
Figure 4.3: Design of Filter Inlet Flow Installed in the Sedimentation Tank	60
Figure 4.4: Visual Observation of Turbidity of Wastewater Sludge Before (left) and After (right)	
Filtration	67
Figure 4.5: Averages of Chemical Properties of Wastewater Sludge Before and After Filtration70	
Figure 4.6: Averages of Nutrient Concentrations in Wastewater Sludge Before and After	
Filtration	72
Figure 4.7: Levels of Microbial in Wastewater Sludge Before and After Filtration	74

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE	PAGE
Table 2.1: FAO Guideline for Wastewater Quality Parameters for Irrigated Agriculture	37
Table 3.1: Material for Sedimentation Tank	41
Table 3.2: Materials for Filtration Tank	41
Table 3.3: Materials for Roughing Filter Setup	42
Table 3.4: Design Parameters of the Roughing Filter	45
Table 4.1: Physical Properties of Filter Materials used in Roughing Filter Layers	63
Table 4.2: Summary Statistics of Wastewater Sludge Properties Before and After Filtration	on 69

LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

APHA	American Public Health Association
BOD	Biological Oxygen Demand
COD	Chemical Oxygen Demand
CCID	Council for Scientific and Industrial
CSIR	Research
DWTS	Drinking Water Treatment Sludge
E. coli	Escherichia coli
EC	Electrical Conductivity
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
FAO	Food and Agricultural Organisation
HDPE	High-Density Polyethylene
HRT	Hydraulic Retention Time
MoFA	Ministry of Food and Agriculture
NRV	Non-return Valve
NTU	Nephelometric Turbidity Units
PVC	Polyvinyl Chloride
SARI	Savannah Agricultural Research Institute
GSA	Ghana Standard Authority
SDG	Sustainable Development Goals
TDS	Total Dissolved Solids
TSS	Total Suspended Solids
WHO	World Health Organisation
WWT	Wastewater Treatment

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

The globe is progressively confronting a water scarcity crisis as a result of a variety of factors such as climate change, rising global population, increased urbanization, and water pollution (Chitonge *et al.*, 2020). To mitigate this, reusing wastewater can be a viable solution, especially for irrigation (Maryam and Büyükgüngör, 2019a). According to Winpenny *et al.* (2010), wastewater reuse initiatives have the potential to provide a double or even triple reward to urban consumers, farmers, and the environment. Using wastewater for irrigation has a lot of potentials, especially in locations where water is limited (Almuktar *et al.*, 2018). Using wastewater subject to some sort of treatment in irrigated agriculture since the readily accessible freshwater source is limited could assist with the creation of jobs and advance food and nutritional security, reduce hunger, eradicate poverty, and assure human welfare and advance development in a sustainable manner (Mugagga and Nabaasa, 2016). The fulfillment of several of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) of the United Nations may also be aided by the reuse of wastewater for irrigation (Jeong *et al.*, 2016).

Wastewater reuse could perhaps support the UN's 2030 Sustainable Development Initiative, particularly addresses (SDG 1, 2 and 6) its sub-target to improve water quality by eliminating dumping, reducing contamination, and minimizing the share of untreated water by 2030, substantially increase water-use efficiency across all sectors, and ensure sustainable withdrawals and supply of freshwater to address water scarcity and substantially reduce the number of people suffering from it. As a potential source of irrigation water, the treatment of wastewater offers a

variety of potential benefits, such as dependable water availability, a reduced need for chemical fertilizers, and improved soil conditioning that boosts crop output (Gao *et al.*, 2021).

Important factors to take into account include the treated wastewater quality, the source of the raw wastewater, the trust in the treatment process, and the safety of the crops being irrigated with wastewater for human consumption or potential health risks. Sludge is frequently rich in organic matter and contains high concentrations of valuable micronutrients including Fe, Mn, Cu, Zn, Mo, and Cl as well as the essential plant nutrients nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium (Kalbar *et al.*, 2013).

According to Jafarinejad (2019), sludge is defined as the waste product existing out of the water, suspended solids, and flocculant chemicals. Sludge is the most common byproduct of wastewater treatment plants, and its disposal is one of the most difficult environmental issues in wastewater treatment operations (Demirbas *et al.*, 2017). A conventional treatment technique is used to treat surface water for drinking/domestic purposes at the Savannah Agricultural Research Institute (SARI) drinking water plant in the Tamale-Northern Region of Ghana (Kreijen 2020). The wastewater sludge from drinking water plants is a reliable and all-year-round water resource for irrigation purposes. To maximize the value of this water and minimize water losses, a wastewater treatment scheme can be developed to utilize the water for different irrigation methods such as sprinkler or drip irrigation.

1.2 Problem Statement and Justification

The world's population is predicted to rise further, while water resources are expected to dwindle further, and the situation is expected to worsen as a result of global warming and other environmental issues (Puplampu and Boafo, 2021).

Cities in emerging countries such as Ghana are witnessing unprecedented population expansion (Puplampu and Boafo, 2021). Large amounts of wastewater are created as water distribution and sanitation coverage expand quickly, and this wastewater is routinely deposited untreated into the environment in streams, drains, etc. (Sagoe *et al.*, 2019). Since its formation in volumetric terms, composition regarding quality and source, treatment, reuse, or disposal has an impact on human existence and other natural assets, most importantly fragile ecosystems, wastewater/sludge has attracted attention on a global scale (Eggen *et al.*, 2014). The coverage of Ghana's effluents treatment system was disturbingly little, at 4.5 %, according to UNICEF (2016). Tema, a significant industry-centered city in Ghana, is the only municipality having a functional sewerage/sludge treatment setup for the handling, treatment, and disposal of wastewater, according to the research. The Waste Management Department of the Metropolitan, Municipal, and District Assemblies is in charge of managing wastewater in Ghana, Eugene *et al.* (2019). Only 4.5 % of Ghana's population is served by the sewage network, and the majority of metropolitan areas need facilities for wastewater treatment (Sagoe *et al.*, 2019).

The recycling and reuse of wastewater from Ghana's numerous water treatment plants, however, depends on several conditions (Kalbar *et al.*, 2013). These factors include a lack of infrastructure, technology, technical expertise, and lack of knowledge or lack of financial capacity (Mendes *et al.*, 2014; Sixt *et al.*, 2018).

The Savannah Agriculture Research Institute (SARI), Nyankpala water treatment plant has some wastewater generated that is not in use now, instead, the wastewater is discharged into the same source (dugout) that supplies the research station with potable water without any knowledge of the amount of chemicals the wastewater contains. That is because the SARI water treatment station has no infrastructure to accommodate the wastewater sludge which compels them to discharge the

wastewater back to the dugout. While the need for infrastructure to transfer and/or store treated water arises, wastewater is identified as a barrier to; a key issue limiting its use is public concern over potential impacts on human and environmental health (Liu *et al.*, 2016; Maryam and Büyükgüngör, 2019a). Diarrhoea was one of the leading causes of death among children, accounting for 19 % of all child fatalities in 2015, with 78 % (1.46 million) happening in Africa and Southeast Asia. These fatalities were linked to the reuse of wastewater in irrigation systems (mostly untreated) and other competing water uses (Kalbar *et al.*, 2013).

Voulvoulis (2018) asserted that concerns with the quality of treated wastewater may result in actual or perceived challenges in agriculture. To evaluate the quality of the treated wastewater, pathogenic contamination levels and presence are considered (Osunmakinde *et al.*, 2019). Nutrient loads, dissolved oxygen content, detectable metal concentrations, pH, suspended material, microbial load (i.e., bacteria and protozoa), and the presence and levels of pathogenic contamination are examples of quality indicators or criteria (Edokpayi *et al.*, 2017). Several guidelines have been produced to assist the safe use of treated wastewater in agriculture (Jaramillo and Restrepo, 2017a). Because the wastewater from the drinking water treatment plant cannot be utilized directly for drip irrigation, a filtration stage in the irrigation system is required. Before it may be used for drip irrigation, some components in the wastewater must be eliminated. In this scenario, the most relevant water considerations are:

(a) The amount and size of suspended particles - a key concern is that sludge water would clog/block the irrigation system.

(b) The biological composition - the number of biological contaminants contained in irrigation water must not be hazardous to the crops that are irrigated, and the chemical composition; and

4

(c) Irrigation water should have a chemical composition that does not cause the crop or the ground to deteriorate. If the water is overly saline, for example, the irrigated land for agricultural purposes will be destroyed.

Therefore, this study focused on the design of a sludge treatment system and a water filter for the SARI drinking water treatment plant to make it appropriate for irrigation purposes.

1.3 Objectives of the Study

The main objective of the study was to to design, construct and carry out performance test of a filter for the treatment of wastewater sludge for irrigation in the Tolon District in the Northern Region of Ghana.

1.3.1 Specific Objectives

The specific objectives of the study were;

- 1. To design and construct a roughing filter for the filtration of wastewater sludge at the SARI drinking water treatment plant for irrigation purposes.
- 2. To monitor the operation and the performance of the water filtration system.
- 3. To determine the physicochemical quality of the wastewater sludge before filtration.
- 4. To determine the physicochemical quality of the water after filtration before it is used for irrigation.

1.4 Research Question

1. Which filter would be the best design for the filtration of wastewater sludge from the SARI drinking water treatment plant for irrigation purposes?

2. What is the operation and performance of the filtration system?

5

- 3. What is the physicochemical quality of the wastewater sludge before filtration?
- 4. What is the quality of the filtered water for irrigation?

1.5 Thesis Structure

Five (5) major chapters make up the thesis. The background of the study, problem statement, rationale, objectives, research questions, and thesis structure are presented in Chapter One (1). In Chapter Two (2), the pertinent empirical literature is reviewed concerning the treatment of wastewater sludge, the physical, chemical, microbial, and nutrient properties of wastewater sludge, the risks associated with wastewater usage, the various types of roughing filters, the various types of sludge and their various forms, the filtration and filtering methods, etc. The study's materials and methods are described in Chapter Three (3), including the study regions, how the various properties of the wastewater sludge were determined before and after filtering, data collection techniques, and performance evaluation indicators. The results and discussions, as well as the study's conclusions and recommendations, are presented in the fourth (4th) and fifth (5th) Chapters, respectively.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Overview of Wastewater and Treatment Processes

On the subject of SDG 6 i.e., clean water and sanitation, wastewater is still a hot topic with global concerns. According to Eggen *et al.* (2014), the volumes generated, their composition as it relates to the quality and source, and the mode of treatment, reuse, and/or disposal have an impact on mankind and the environment, and these make it a more sensitive topic. The reason for improved wastewater treatment in high-income countries is either to maintain the quality of the environment or to give an alternate water supply when dealing with water scarcity (Ondrasek, 2014). However, due to a lack of infrastructure, finance, and technical and institutional competence, the use of untreated wastewater remains a common practice, particularly in developing nations (Ravina *et al.*, 2021).

Approximately, 70 % of urban and factory-made wastewater in developed countries is treated, according to Connor *et al.* (2017). However, in upper to middle-income economies, only 38 % of municipal and industrial wastewater undergoes treatment, and 28 % volume of wastewater is in nations with lower-middle-class incomes. In Ghana (a lower-income country), only 8 % of wastewater produced is treated for reuse (Kwabla, T. A. 2017). Thus, it is no surprising that about 80 % of total wastewater produced globally ends up in its final destinations untreated (Kwabla, T. A. 2017). Wastewater can be defined as domestic, industrial, agricultural, and manufacturing wastes that are liquid-borne – water that has its quality negatively impacted by human activities such as domestic, industrial, and commercial use (Chen *et al.*, 2020). It is typically composed of 99 % of water and 1 % of suspended, colloidal, and dissolved particles (Hanjra *et al.*, 2012).

With the numerous importance that comes with wastewater treatment, it has become a necessity since it aids in human and environmental health promotion and protection, and reuse options in industrial and agricultural production (Kalbar *et al.*, 2013). The prime focus of wastewater treatment (WWT) is to remove contaminants that render water unwholesome for use. The various contaminant removal processes could be biological, chemical, or physical. In the treatment process, primary treatment is used in the removal of large solids and pollutants such as sand and grit from wastewater by screen usage, settling tanks, and/or skimming equipment (Wang *et al.*, 2021). The primary treatment process becomes necessary when the speed of solid contaminants ought to be reduced to settle and floating materials to subside. In secondary wastewater treatment, organics and solids from wastewater are removed biologically (Gunatilake, 2015).

Flocculation and coagulation are essential techniques for separating liquid-solid in industrial wastewater treatment. To destabilize particles and enable floc formation and removal via clarifying (buoyancy or centrifugation) and/or filtration, chemicals (aluminum sulfate or iron salts) are introduced to water during the coagulation process (Wong *et al.*, 2021). In water coagulants, chemicals are employed to weaken the charges of suspended and colloidal particles (Hayder *et al.*, 2017; Jiang, 2015). As a result of the coagulation process, collections of smaller particles agglomerate into bigger, better-separated floatable, or settleable particles (Wang *et al.*, 2021).

In the treatment process of wastewater, the wastewater output is termed sludge; a slurry or semisolid by-product. This by-product has to be subjected to another treatment operation for reuse (Demirbas *et al.*, 2017).

Sludge is a byproduct of several industrial operations, such as water treatment, wastewater treatment, and on-site sanitation systems (Tun *et al.*, 2021). It can also be produced as a settled suspension during conventional drinking water treatment (Ma *et al.*, 2019).

2.2 Physical Properties of Wastewater

2.2.1 Total Suspended Solids (TSS)

Total suspended solids are watery particles larger than 2 microns in size. Any particle smaller than 2 microns, on the other hand, are referred to as Total Dissolved Solids (TDS). According to Mohammadi *et al.* (2021), the majority of total suspended solids are made of inorganic components. However, algae and bacteria can also be classified as total suspended solids (TSS). Silt, plankton, sand, and other floating or suspending aquatic organisms are all examples of total suspended solids. When certain water sources are contaminated with rotting plants or animals, typically suspended solids, the organic particles are released into the water (Amakiri *et al.*, 2022). While some sediment settles at the bottom of water sources, suspended solids float on the surface or remain suspended solids content of a water resource, the less clear it will be (Alimohammadi *et al.*, 2020).

Concerning agricultural water usage, the number of suspended solids in treated wastewater can have a significant impact on the efficacy of a drip irrigation system. Li *et al.* (2012) reported that a high quantity of suspended solids might cause an irrigation system to clog quickly. Suspended solids can also harm soil's hydraulic conductivity, since particles can build and form a less permeable top layer, resulting in a less effective irrigation system (Viviani and Iovino, 2004). Another unpleasant consequence of high suspended solids levels is that viruses and bacteria can adhere to the particles, causing crop damage and disease.

2.2.2 Total Dissolved Solids (TDS)

Rusydi (2018) indicated that the total amount of organic and inorganic substances dissolved in water is referred to as the dissolved solids concentration. In general, most of the dissolved solids in water are composed of magnesium, calcium, sodium, potassium, bicarbonate, sulfate, chloride, nitrate, and silica. Salinity is another term frequently used to describe the number of dissolved solids in water (Corwin *et al.*, 2020). Combinations of these ions, such as sodium and chloride result in salts (Alipour *et al.*, 2016). The concentration of dissolved solids in water is caused by human activities (e.g farming at the upstream of the dugout, burning of bushes chemicals application), the geology of the area most especially in arid regions where we have high evaporation rates and low precipitation, and climate.

The best and most efficient method for removing TDS from water and its harmful effects is typically through a water filtration system (Chaukura *et al.*, 2020; Thibault *et al.*, 2021). If the water source is known to contain a lot of calcium or sulfate ions, a constant of 0.8 may be utilized, however, the standard method for the examination of wastewater and water allows a TDS constant of 0.55 - 0.7 mg/L (Thibault *et al.*, 2021).

2.2.3 pH

An essential quality indicator for both natural water and wastewater is the hydrogen ion concentration. The intensity level required for most biological life to exist is relatively small and crucial. Nyiyongu and Ndububa (2019), wastewater with an unfavorable hydrogen-ion concentration such high or low pH reduces biodiversity, decrease growth, respiratory inhibition and reproduction of living organisms which makes it difficult for biological processes to handle, and if the concentration is not adjusted before release, the wastewater effluent may alter the

concentration in natural waters. The alkalinity in wastewater aids in the resistance to pH fluctuations produced by acid addition. Alkalinity comes from the water source, groundwater, and compounds added during residential usage; hence wastewater is generally alkaline (Warsinger *et al.*, 2018; Victoria-Salinas *et al.*, 2019).

2.2.4 Turbidity

Kahle *et al.* (2021) stated that turbidity is an optical quality parameter that describes how clear or cloudy water is in general. It has to do with colour, although it is more about the loss of transparency caused by suspended particles and colloidal materials. Turbidity has an impact on the aquatic environment by scattering sunlight and lowering oxygen levels (Kjelland *et al.*, 2015). It also has an impact on photosynthesis, respiration, and reproduction. The adherence of many heavy metals and other hazardous substances is also aided by suspended particles. Turbidity is a metric for water quality; the more turbid the water is, the poorer its quality (Teh *et al.*, 2016).

The issue that occurs from turbid irrigated water is comparable to suspended solids and must thus be measured and regulated (Jeong *et al.*, 2016). The current turbidity standards have maximum values ranging from 2 to 10 NTU and 10 NTU and above the water is considerd turbid (Al Mamun *et al.*, 2019). These statistics, known as suspended solids are utilized as an indicator of water quality.

2.2.5 Electrical Conductivity (EC)

Rahmanian *et al.* (2015) reveal that the conductivity of water is crucial because it can inform you about the concentrations of dissolved compounds, minerals, and chemicals in the water. The conductivity will increase with a higher concentration of these contaminants (Falizi *et al.*, 2018). Water conductivity will increase by a tiny amount of dissolved salts and compounds (Bhateria *et*

al., 2016). If you oversee a wastewater treatment facility, sudden changes in water conductivity above the 3.0 mS/cm may be an indication that pollutants have gotten into the system (Akoto et al., 2017; Kalbar et al., 2013). Negative and positively charged ions are created when different chemicals and salts dissolve in water (Falizi et al., 2018). Potassium, sodium and magnesium are examples of positively charged ions that can have an impact on water. In contrast, carbonate, sulfate, and chlorine are examples of negatively charged ions (Falizi et al., 2018). Electrical conductivity ought to be between 0.7 - 3.0 mS/cm for irrigation purposes (Falizi et al., 2018). The temperature of the water is the main component that can influence the EC of water out of a wide range of different parameters. Higher temperatures will typically result in greater electrical conductivity (Hassan, 2020). Mao (2016) reported that filtration or root eradication is the two methods for reducing conductivity. Maheshwari et al. (2020) said depending on the use and resources available, many technologies including reverse osmosis, deionization, carbon, filtering, and distillation are available to filter water for dissolved solids. In a generation, as filtering levels increase and the number of dissolved solids decreases, conductivity will also decrease (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2020).

2.2.6 Temperature

The average annual temperature of wastewater varies by geographical area and ranges from 10 to 21 °C (Bhargava, 2016). Because of its impact on chemical reaction rates and aquatic life, wastewater temperature is an essential characteristic (Arora and Kazmi, 2015). Similarly, oxygen is less soluble in warm wastewater, and as the population of some aquatic species grows, so does the oxygen demand, resulting in dissolved oxygen depletion (Arora and Kazmi, 2015). Similarly, living organisms die because of rapid temperature changes (Baird *et al.*, 2009).

2.2.7 Salinity

Water that is too saline can have a significant impact on crop growth. Because of the difference in osmotic pressure, crops have a harder time absorbing water, resulting in fewer green leaves and a decrease in growth. The consequence of salt stress on plants are the same as those induced by water stress. The sensitivity of a plant to saltwater varies significantly amongst crops (Niu and Cabrera, 2010). Irrigation water salinity is measured in EC (electronic conductivity), and water with an EC less than 0.7 dS/m does not influence crop growth, whereas water with an EC of more than 3 dS/m is considered too saline and can causes significant damage to crops (Jeong *et al.,* 2016).

2.3 Macro-nutrient in Wastewater

Nitrogen and phosphorus are necessary for plant growth, although other elements such as iron are required in trace amounts for biological growth (Kumar *et al.*, 2015). It has been discovered that wastewater contains a range of nutrients required for agriculture production (Chiu *et al.*, 2015). Even though nutrient content in wastewater plays a crucial role in plant growth, it might have negative consequences if it exceeds the recommended amounts. This involves, among other things, plant toxicity and the stimulation of excessive vegetation growth (Erel *et al.*, 2019).

2.3.1 Nitrogen

Wastewater contains nitrate, ammonia, organic nitrogen, and nitrite, which are all macronutrients needed by plants (WHO, 2000; Taziki *et al.*, 2015). Only 50 % of ammonia and 30 % of nitrogen may be absorbed by plants; the remainder is lost via transformation through several mechanisms such as evaporation, precipitation, adsorption denitification and chemical oxidation etc (Yuan *et al.*, 2018). The main problem with nitrogen is that nitrates are heavily soluble in water, thus the

majority of them are employed to irrigate crops (Abalos *et al.*, 2014). Because many crops require enormous amounts of water to develop effectively, this often is impossible to control (Qadir *et al.*, 2010). Excessive nitrogen levels in wastewater can induce over-fertilization, resulting in high vegetative growth, crop maturity delays or unevenness, and poor quality. Nitrogen levels in wastewater have been observed to range from 20 to >100 mg/L, depending on local people's inhouse water use and food, as well as sewage effluent treatment before Soil Aquifer Treatment (SAT) (Qadir *et al.*, 2010; Reta *et al.*, 2021).

2.3.2 Phosphorus

According to An *et al.* (2016), wastewater can contain 5 to 50 mg/L phosphorus, depending on the local populations' diet and water use. Organic phosphorus is biologically transformed into phosphate during wastewater pre-treatment and passing through the soil of the SAT system. Phosphate precipitates with calcium in calcareous soils with an alkaline pH to generate calcium phosphate (Taalab *et al.*, 2019). Phosphate combines with iron and aluminum oxides in the soil to generate insoluble compounds in acidic soils.

WHO (2006) states that fertilizer is nearly always recommended since soil phosphorus is frequently scarce in a form that is organic to plants. In soils, phosphorus is comparatively stable and may have an impact, especially close to the soil surface. Because wastewater has a low phosphorus content, it can be used for irrigation without harming the environment. However, because phosphorus accumulates near the soil surface, it has the potential to pollute surface water through soil erosion and runoff (Elgallal *et al.*, 2016).

14

2.3.3 Potassium

These are macronutrients found in high amount in the soil, 3 % of the lithosphere, but is not bioavailable because it is bonded to other substances. As a result, fertilizer must be used to supply potassium to the soil. Potassium is needed at a rate of around 185 kg/ha. Potassium levels in wastewater are too low to meet the theoretical demand (Kolb *et al.*, 2017).

2.4 Chemical Properties of Wastewater

2.4.1 Biological Oxygen Demand

The term Biological Oxygen Demand (BOD) refers to the quantity of dissolved oxygen that aerobic organisms in water need to consume to decompose organic material that is present in a water sample at a particular temperature and for a particular period. Oxygen depletion is very likely in water with a high BOD concentration, resulting in a decreased ability of crops to absorb nutrients (Jeong *et al.*, 2016). As a result, BOD concentration in irrigation water must be measured. The average BOD guideline restricts its content to about 15 mg/L (Agoro *et al.*, 2018).

Studies conducted globally have shown that wastewater has high levels of organic matter's ability to fertilize, indicating that it can be used to enrich and recondition agricultural soils to boost crop yields (Birleys and Kock, 1999). This was supported by investigations of institutions charged with wastewater management in senegel and Ghana, which revealed BOD levels (Cornish *et al.*, 1999). This revealed the existence of organic matter as well as high phosphorus and nitrogen concentration, both of which are critical nutrients for plant development (N'tchougan-Sonou, 2001).

2.4.2 Chemical Oxygen Demand

Chemical oxygen demand matter is expected to be less prevalent in drinking water sludge. The water treatment plants use surface water from a river that does not typically contain high levels of COD. Chemical oxygen demand concentration in irrigation water is not required by international reporting. As a result, the COD concentration will be limited to a maximum of 30 mg/L (Jia *et al.*, 2017).

2.5 Biological Properties of Wastewater

2.5.1 Escherichia Coli

The greatest indicator of the presence of faecal bacteria in the water is to test for *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) bacteria. In the faeces of mammals, *E. coli* is found in extremely large concentrations. Water containing high levels of *E. coli* is likely to have high levels of other dangerous bacteria (Edberg *et al.*, 2000). Irrigating with bacterial-infested water can be exceedingly dangerous to people's health, hence there must be regulations and limits on the maximum bacterial contamination that can be used. In the categorization of irrigation water, vegetables likely to be eaten raw (category A), and vegetables to be cooked, processed, or fruits not directly irrigated (Category B) should have an average *E. coli* content of 1 cfu mL⁻¹ and 1 cfu mL⁻¹ respectively (Allende *et al.*, 2015).

2.5 Threats of Wastewater Usage

The usage of wastewater in agriculture offers numerous advantages, but poses significant health dangers, particularly when untreated wastewater is utilized for crop irrigation. Farmers regularly have no alternative but to utilize untreated sewage because there is no wastewater treatment and freshwater is either inadequate or just too costly (World Bank, 2010). Although urban vegetable

production increase access to jobs, and food, improve nutrition, and reduces poverty, it poses risk to human health and the environment. This makes it challenging to receive the necessary support from authorities, especially in sub-Saharan Africa, where there are significant problems with sanitation (Drechsel *et al.*, 2006: Obuobie *et al.*, 2006).

Microorganisms in untreated or inadequately treated wastewater have been shown by Bintsis (2018) and Ungureanu *et al.* (2020) to hang around long enough in the environment to cause parasitic, bacterial, and viral infections in humans when inhaled as aerosols. Ungureanu *et al.* (2020) reported that people are exposed to pathogens when wastewater is reused in irrigated agriculture through a straight link with the polluted water, inhalation, and accidental ingestion before, consumption of irrigated vegetables either during or after irrigation, and consumption of an animal product that has been contaminated by the use of wastewater.

If irrigation wastewater's physicochemical quality is poor, for instance, because it is too salty or includes excessive levels of boron, heavy metals, or other industrial toxicants, nitrogen, and/or sodium, reduced crop yields are the greatest risk to plants. When there is less industrial effluent in the wastewater, there are fewer threats to plant health, but five criteria should always be evaluated during the irrigation season: sodium, electrical conductivity, pH, total nitrogen, absorption ratio, and boron (World Bank, 2010).

2.5.1 Microbial Threat to Public Health

If pathogens in wastewater go through the food chain, they can result in deadly illnesses and even lead to death. Diarrhoea is the second leading cause of death for 800,000 young children in developing countries, where there are frequently insufficient drinking water and sanitation systems (Cisneros, 2021). Consuming untreated wastewater and consuming unprocessed or fresh

vegetables from wastewater-irrigated crops can result in epidemics of cholera, shigellosis, typhoid fever, as well as seropositive reactions to helicobacter pylori that can cause chronic infections and even cancer (Kamizoulis, 2008).

Microbial pathogens such as protozoa, bacteria, viruses, and helminths are the principal health risks in low- and middle-income nations because they are present in domestic wastewater and water treatment facilities. The unregulated use of untreated or only partially treated wastewater for edible crop irrigation has been linked by epidemiology studies over the past four decades to the spread of endemic and pandemic diseases to farmers and crop consumers (World Bank, 2010).

2.5.2 Chemical Threat to Public Health

Chemical dangers are higher in middle and high-income countries, where industrial wastewater is dumped into public sewers and contaminates municipal wastewater. Several organic compounds and heavy metals, including cadmium, lead, mercury, and others, can be hazardous to human health (such as pesticides). Although their long-term health effects are less clear, pharmaceuticals, hormones, endocrine disruptors, antibiotics, and personal care products are among the growing class of anthropogenic chemical compounds that are worrying high-income countries (World Bank, 2010).

2.5.3 Wastewater Threat to the Soil

Salinization is the biggest and most typical issue brought on by wastewater use in soils, according to Singh (2021). If thorough soil washing and land drainage are not carried out, problems occur even with freshwater. Because of its higher salt concentration, wastewater can hasten the process of salinization, and this causes soil structure to collapse resulting in the loss of pores and interconnections that allow water and air movement in the soil (Drechsel *et al.*, 2010). Because

wastewater contains more salts than freshwater, the salinity of the soil and groundwater will constantly rise in long run, as a result, it is vital to integrate wastewater utilization with salinization management techniques (Drechsel *et al.*, 2010). Controlling numerous chemical-related risks to plants and the environment requires putting in place robust industrial wastewater pre-treatment and control procedures. Effective programs are not the norm in developing nations, thus chemical dangers must be addressed with great care in such cases (Drechsel *et al.*, 2010).

2.6 Wastewater Treatment – An Outlook on Sludge

Sludge comes from several stages of the wastewater treatment process and contains a varied amount of inorganic and organic components in both the liquid and solids phases (Świątczak and Cydzik-Kwiatkowska, 2018). It is generated through domestic, industrial, and wastewater plant which consequently produces solid materials in its treatment process (Puplampu and Boafo, 2021). Based on the source, sludge can be classified as drinking water sludge, faecal sludge, industrial wastewater sludge, and sewage sludge. The amount and characteristics of sludge produced in a wastewater treatment facility are determined by the wastewater composition, wastewater treatment method, and sludge treatment method (Świątczak and Cydzik-Kwiatkowska, 2018). Sludge is a good source of nutrients and trace minerals for plant growth, and it can help enhance soil chemical and physical quantities (Świątczak and Cydzik-Kwiatkowska, 2018). Despite the advantages and practical value of sludge, it usually contains organic, inorganic, and biological pollutants from domestic, commercial, and industrial wastewater, as well as a substance added or generated during various wastewater treatment processes (Świątczak and Cydzik-Kwiatkowska, 2018). Inorganic contaminants, for example, are metals and trace elements, and organic contaminants are polychlorinated biphenyls dioxins, medicines, and surfactants, and pathogens such as bacteria, viruses, and parasites are examples of pollutants (Świątczak and Cydzik-Kwiatkowska, 2018).

According to Gerba and Pepper (2019), the composition of sludge is determined by wastewater content and treatment methods, and the quality indices obtained to define the application technique, rate, and level of regulatory control are necessary. Aside the materials that enter the treatment plant, some of which will sediment immediately in the mechanical treatment, the chemicals are supplied during the chemical treatment step (Englande *et al.*, 2015). However, materials that end up in sludge are pharmaceutical drugs such as antibiotics and hormones in the influent wastewater (Englande *et al.*, 2015). According to Alvarenga *et al.* (2015), metals, biological organisms, organic materials, and nutrients are all mingled together since modern wastewater treatment plants use a variety of physical, chemical, and biological treatment techniques.

2.6.1 Forms of Sludge

According to Jung *et al.* (2016), drinking water treatment sludge (DWTS) is a waste by-product of the drinking water treatment process that contains significant levels of aluminum or iron species due to the usage of various coagulants. Furthermore, DWTS is made up of suspended and colloidal contaminants such as silt, sand, humic particles, and clay, all of which are related to the quality of the raw water (Ahmad *et al.*, 2016). The environment and human health are both harmed when drinking water treatment sludge (DWTS) is discharged directly from a water treatment plant (WTP).

From pit latrines septic tanks, and onsite sanitation systems which contain solid waste, human excreta, water, and other materials, faecal sludge is also produced (Lindberg and Rost, 2018). In most developed countries, faecal sludge is moved into a vacuum truck for treatment before the sludge can be used as a soil conditioner, irrigation, and production of biogas, biodiesel, and charcoal (Strande, 2014).

Awuchi *et al.* (2020) defined industrial wastewater sludge as a slurry substance that is produced from manufacturing industries and warehouses, and this wastewater by-product contains a huge number of pathogens, metals, and chemicals that can cause harm if not properly managed. Seleiman *et al.* (2020) also reported that the harmful contaminants in the sludge can adversely result in pollution of the environment and human health. For this reason, proper caution and management are required before it is discharged on land.

Sludge produced by municipals is also known as sewage sludge. It is a blend of organic (faecal matter from humans) and inorganic matter, microorganisms, food particles, and trace chemicals in a watery or semi-watery state (Gan and Shuit, 2020). After treatment, the sludge can be used as fertilizer for horticulture and landscaping purposes, and its anaerobic treatment could result in methane production, used in cooking and heating (Awuchi *et al.*, 2020). Desiccated sewage sludge burning can kill pathogens to minimize the volume of sludge and decomposing of organic chemicals (Gan and Shuit, 2020). However, greenhouse gases and pollutants into the atmosphere through the burning of the desiccated sewage sludge result in the production of inert and inorganic ash which has fewer uses (Chanaka Udayanga *et al.*, 2018).

2.6.2 Sludge Treatment

According to Bhargava (2016), sludge is treated by various processes that can be used in several forms. Primary sludge is generated from the primary settling tank through chemical precipitation, sedimentation, and some other primary processes. Sedimentation, though not mostly factored into the sludge processing stages, begins the whole wastewater treatment process, and in some instances, primary storages are used to trap and thicken sludge (Abarca, 2021). In the processing stages, unwanted contaminants are removed whilst the remnants are channeled for further treatment (Demirbas *et al.*, 2017). At this stage, secondary sludge; an activated bio-based

substance from biological sludge treatment is used to remove raw biodegradable wastewater solids found in the raw plant influent which are trapped and removed in the primary sedimentation process (Demirbas *et al.*, 2017). The third stage of wastewater treatment involves the removal of nitrates and phosphates found in the wastewater, materials such as sand and activated carbon are predominantly used at this stage (Englande *et al.*, 2015).

In the treatment process, trickling filters are used together in wastewater treatment (Garg, 2009; Qasim, 2017). Garg (2009) and Saravanan *et al.* (2021) reported that gravity separation of drinking water treatment sludge can effectively compress wastewater sludge treatment resulting from sedimentation and filter backwashing. Garg (2009) and Shrestha *et al.* (2020) reported that during the process a slight increase in solids content might reduce overall sludge volume, necessitating larger treatment units. Gravity settling, floatation, centrifugation, and gravity belts are some of the physical sludge treatment methods (Wu *et al.*, 2017). Slow-speed stirring in a tank with a picket fence type mechanism fosters more flocculation and can greatly enhance the solids content and settle ability with a lot of flocculent sludge, especially extra activated sludge which allows the removal of the supernatant. Expounded below are some major sludge treatment processes;

- a. According to Garg (2009) and Yesil and Tugtas (2019), thickening is the process of removing a portion of the liquid content from sludge to increase the solid content. However, consolidating waste sludge by gravity thickening is the most straightforward and cost-effective method. In the thickening method, the flocculants aid in a more rapid phase higher solids contents, separation, and a great level of capture (Eckhoff, 2016).
- b. Stabilization of sludge reduces pathogen content, eliminates objectionable odours, and reduces or eliminates the potential for putrefaction (Demirbas *et al.*, 2017). Lime stabilization, heat treatment, aerobic digestion, anaerobic digestion, and compositing are all methods of

stabilization. At this stage, lime is added to untreated sludge during this process to raise the pH to 12 or higher because a high pH environment restricts the life of microorganisms (Abdulsada et al., 2021). The risk of sludge putrefaction and odour generation is reduced. The most popular lime-stabilizing materials are hydrated lime and quick lime (CaO) which can be introduced either before or after the dewatering process (Eckhoff, 2016). Lime used before primary clarity precipitates phosphates and hardness cation as well as organic debris that will aid in scale formation, and phosphorus can be eliminated up to 95 % (Fisher et al., 2019). The problem with this process is the creation of scale on tanks, pipes, and other equipment as well as the disposal of the vast amount of lime because of the process. According to Lee et al. (2018) the main disadvantage of lime stabilization is that it is just temporary only the operation of a fullscale installation will show the severity of these potential issues. The quantity of sludge produced is roughly 1.5 to 2 times that of the conventional approach. Lee *et al.* (2018) also reported that lime stabilization, unlike biological stabilization, does not lower the amount of sludge produced but the downside is that it can only halt biological activity for a brief period and that it does not reduce solids.

c. According to Gurjar and Tyagi (2017), sludge conditioning is the preliminary treatment of sludge to aid in the removal of water in a thickening or dewatering process. The methods involved in this treatment process are chemical (inorganic and organic), elutriation, and heat treatments (Ondrasek, 2014). Elutriation is the method of cleaning the alkalinity out of an anaerobic sludge digester to reduce the acidic chemical conditioner's demand to ameliorate the dewatering and settling characteristics. It is used in plants where there is a combination of excess activated and primary sludge for digestion (Gurjar and Tyagi, 2017).
- d. Antar *et al.* (2021) reported that the chemical method is the process that involves the application of organic and inorganic flocculants to improve the process of making a porous, freely draining cake layer. The flocculants improve solids collection, sludge blanket characteristics, and sludge dewaterability in this approach (Antar *et al.*, 2021).
- e. Dewatering is a physical unit action that reduces sludge's moisture content. If sludge is not burnt or applied to the land, it must be dewatered or dried (Eckhoff, 2016). This can be accomplished by employing sand beds or mechanical dewatering devices. The method used in dewatering are accurately described by the devices used, some of the major types are drying beds, filter presses, horizontal belt filters, centrifuges, rotary vacuum filters, and rotating cylindrical devices (Elbaz *et al.*, 2020). The characteristics of the sludge to be dewatered, available space, and moisture content requirements of the sludge cake for ultimate disposal all influence the sludge dewatering technique chosen (Eckhoff, 2016). In dewatering, flocculants raise the level of solids capture for both agglomeration and destabilization of finer particles in cake formation (Eckhoff, 2016). The final cake becomes the right filter media.
- f. Final disposal techniques; final or ultimate disposal refers to the release of sludge into the environment as a residue in any form, including liquid, cake, dry, or ash. The principal methods are cropland application, land reclamation, sanitary landfill, and ocean disposal (Ondrasek, 2014). The first three methods are also utilization procedures. In an instance where a sanitary landfill is used for purposes of topographic modification, this also could construe as utilization.



Figure 2.1: Sludge Treatment Flowchart

Source: Adapted from Ngo et al. (2017)

2.7 Filtration and Filtering Methods

The inhibition or expulsion of disease-causing pathogens like dangerous viruses, bacteria, cysts, and worm eggs is the primary goal of water treatment (Bultman *et al.*, 2013). Sterilization (usually with chlorine) and slow sand filters act as two predominantly used techniques for improving the bacteriological aspect of water quality (Palansooriya *et al.*, 2020). Roughing filters have become known in the last decade because of their role in pre-treating surface water before applying SSF (Jayalath *et al.*, 2016).

Because of the broad filter surface area for adsorption, sedimentation, and biological, and chemical activities, filtration is a more effective solid expulsion process (Saravanan *et al.*, 2021). Good water treatment begins with the isolation of coarse matter and ends with the

inactivation or removal of tiny particles and microbes, which are typically quite challenging to separate (Xiao *al et.*, 2019).

Water that contains contaminants of varying sizes must be treated in stages (Jiménez *et al.*, 2018). Firstly, screens act as a removal platform for the coarse matter that may be prevalent in surface water, and sedimentation tanks retain settleable solids (Jiménez *et al.*, 2018). In a subsequent stage, roughing filters isolate the light and fine particles known as suspended solids (Cescon *et al.*, 2020).

Roughing filters are typically made up of adsorbents that gradually shrink in magnitude (Street *et al.*, 2015). The rough filtration medium isolates most solids, whereas the successive intermediate and fine filter media give a polishing effect (Affam *et al.*, 2020). Roughing filters also have a turbidity-reduction effect, bringing it to an acceptable level for an efficient and safe SSF process. Roughing filters, serve primarily as physical filter media and are used to retain solid materials. SSF are biological filters that are employed to enhance the bacterial quality of water (Hashimoto *et al.*, 2019). All these filter forms are of similar technical quality, and their functionality is distinguished by high process stability (Boller, 1993). They solely rely on natural filtration that does not necessitate the usage of chemical compounds to facilitate or augment the treatment method (Francisco *et al.*, 2017). As a result, roughing filters in conjunction with SSF exemplify a suitable treatment scheme for water treatment in developing countries.

2.7.1 Roughing Filter

Roughing filter is a typology of deep-bed filters, which means that an appropriate filter design enhances particulate matter removal all through the depth of the filter medium, optimizing the filter's ability to store the separated solids (Al-Baidhani and Khadafy, 2016). The effectiveness of particle separation in roughing filters is affected by filter design, water quality, and filter materials parameters (Wegelin, 1993; Boller, 1993: Al-Baidhani and Khadafy, 2016). Roughing

filter medium usually is made up of coarse (rough) particles varying in size from 25 mm to 4 mm, which are installed in different fraction layers. Gravel is commonly used as a filtering material. Roughing filters differ greatly in terms of application and design (Hashimoto *et al.*, 2019).

The various filter kinds can be categorized based on their position within the water treatment and supply scheme and flow direction. As a result, dynamic and intake filters, as part of the water intake structure, are distinguished from actual roughing filters, which are incorporated into the water-treatment plant (Francisco *et al.*, 2017; Wegelin, 1993). Al-Baidhani and Khadafy, (2016) reported roughing filters are further classified as down-flow, horizontal-flow, and up-flow filters. To protect the SSF from unexpected siltation, these two filters ought to be employed in clear river systems with short peaks of turbidity during rainfall (Nkwonta *et al.*, 2010). They may also be used during the initial pre-treatment phase with roughing filters to decrease the solid load of highly turbid water (Wegelin, 1996; Francisco *et al.*, 2017).

Roughing filters are made for treating highly turbid surface water for extended periods (Affam *et al.*, 2020; SKAT, 1996). The water is cleaned through a trio of filter fractions. Roughing filters, serve as space filters, contrary to intake and dynamic filters because of the deep solids infiltration into the porous material and thus have a vast silt storage space (Karki *et al.*, 2020). Because of structural barriers, the usable filter medium height in vertical-flow roughing filters is limited to around 1.0 to 1.5 m. Similar to vertical-flow roughing filters, the span is theoretically limitless but is commonly between 5 and 9 meters. Roughing filters have filtering rates that range from 0.3 to 1.5 m/h (SKAT, 1996). Up- and down-flow roughing filters may readily handle raw water turbidities of 50 to 150 NTU due to their longer filter length, whereas lateral roughing filters may be able to handle transient turbidity crests of 500 to 1000 NTU (Al-(Baidhani and Khadafy, 2016). The filters are washed regularly using a quick filter drainage system and, if necessary, a manual

process by washing, removing, and reinstalling the filter material. The filter index can be used to demonstrate the filter efficiency as per Fick's law.

Where:

- c Solid concentration,
- x Filter depth
- λ Filter coefficient or the coefficient of proportionality.

2.7.2 Classification of Roughing Filters

Cescon *et al.* (2020) indicated that filters are classified into roughing filters, rock filters, and rapid and slow sand filters based on their filtration rate and material size. Roughing filters primarily use gravel as a filter medium and do not require the use of chemical compounds or any special complex mechanical device to function (Francisco *et al.*, 2017). Nevertheless, the architecture, setup, and operation differ tremendously. Roughing filters are grouped primarily according to:

- i. The key reason for the application.
- ii. Flow direction.
- iii. Flow design.
- iv. Filter cleaning technique.

Roughing filters are typically installed at treatment plants and are used as the final stage of the pretreatment process before channeling the water to a slow sand filtrating system (Khan *et al.*, 2011). Roughing filters can be operated as down-flow, up-flow, or horizontal-flow filters, with different gravel proportions installed in a separate containment and operated in series, or the

different gravel sizes are placed one layer after another in the same compartment (Hashimoto *et al.*, 2019).

2.7.3 Types of Roughing Filter

2.7.3.1 Vertical Roughing Filter

Daigger *et al.* (2011) reported that the flow of effluent in vertical-flow roughing filters can be either downward or upward. The effluent is thus introduced at either the bottom or the top of the filter installation. When compared to horizontal flow roughing filters, vertical flow roughing filters have a simple self-cleaning method and take up less floor space (Nkwonta, 2010). Vertical-flow roughing filters have their filter media fully immersed. A 10 cm depth of water tends to cover the chippings and other locally available materials such as broken burnt bricks and coconut fiber. A sheet of coarse stones must be placed on top to tint the water and thus inhibit algal growth, which is common in pretreated water exposed to the sun (Nkwonta, 2010; SKAT, 1996).

2.7.3.2 Horizontal Roughing Filter

Horizontal roughing filters have a high capacity for silt storage. With increasing filtration time, solids stick to the filtration medium surface and grow into small heaps of soft granules (Ngo *et al.*, 2017). When the small heaps are becoming unsteady, they would then veer toward the bottom of the filter medium. This drift improves filter efficiency at the top while gradually silting the filter bottom upwards (Daee *et al.*, 2019). Horizontal-flow roughing filters are thus less vulnerable to solid breakthroughs caused by flow rate changes than vertical-flow roughing filters (Nkwonta, 2010). They could, nevertheless, be more vulnerable to short circuits caused by the varying temperature of raw water.

2.7.4 Components and Design Considerations of Roughing Filter

Six components make up a filter: raw water distribution, entrance flow control, real filter, collected treated water, exit flow control, and drainage system (Mwabi *et al.*, 2012). The filter inflow must be sized to a specific flow rate and then sustained at that rate because steady flow conditions are required for effective filter operation (Oyanedel *et al.*, 2008). The adjusted steady flow rate can stay intact even during filter washing to optimize flow control all through the operation (Doherty *et al.*, 2015). Intake filters, on the other hand, necessitate a controlled rise in the flow rate to provide enough wash water to rinse the suspended particles out of the filter surface (Watson *et al.*, 2017).

The raw water distribution on a filter needs to be equal to provide a constant flow rate in the filter bed (Karki *et al.*, 2020). As a result, the flow arising from a channel or a pipe should be distributed evenly across the whole surface of the membrane (Tang *et al.*, 2014). For this purpose, immersed filter beds, inlet weirs covering the whole full filter size, or vented walls providing the entire filter cross-sections are being used (Mwabi *et al.*, 2012). To prevent the filter material from scouring, the hydraulic energy of fast-flowing water must be reduced by baffles located in the inlet zone (Lee *et al.*, 1998). Large flat stones or concrete slabs must be positioned on the surface of the material near overflows for the same intent (Nkwonta, 2010).

The real filter is made up of a watertight structure filled with filter material. The filter box is typically rectangular, with vertical walls (Watson *et al.*, 2017). Nevertheless, based on local building techniques, spherical tanks, and inclined walls can also be constructed. Roundly shaped river bed stones or broken boulders with sharp edges are commonly employed as filter material, but any unreactive material that can resist mechanical forces, is non-soluble, and does not affect water quality in terms of odour or colour is acceptable (Ngo *et al.*, 2017).

The accumulation of treated water must also be homogeneous across the whole filter bed. Irregular water withdrawal would lower the entire filter performance and cause dangerous fluid short circuits (Chernicharo *et al.*, 2015). The excellent choice for achieving equal collection of treated water to up-flow filter media is the availability of an unrestricted water table on top of the filter bed, or the building of a pseudo-filter bottom for downward flow filters (Cescon *et al.*, 2020). A second, albeit least desirable, approach is to set in place a vented wall in the exit chamber to allow for equal withdrawal of the treated water.

The filter bed is kept moist by the outer valve (Nkwonta, 2010). Hydraulic washing of a parched roughing filter clogged with solid particles is a challenging, if not impractical, mission (Wegelin, 1996). As a result, it is ideal to operate roughing filters in wet conditions. The water is kept at the top of the filtration bed level by a sluice gate or an elevated and vented sludge hose (Wegelin, 1996). A V-notch weir may also be set up to enable the flow rate metrics at the filtration exit.

Roughing filter drainage systems serve dual functions: complete draining in times of repair or servicing works and hydraulic filtering (Nkwonta, 2010). Hydraulic filter bed washing necessitates high flow rates, necessitating the use of somewhat more big fittings and pipes (SKAT, 1996). The extra and yet tinier drainage systems in the outlets and inlet containers can be set up for the thorough removal of water.

2.7.5 Operation and Maintenance of Roughing Filters

This needs to be done once the culture medium water has exceeded the highest allowable level, i.e. when the maximum filter resistance of about 1 meter for the planned filtration flow velocity is reached (Marsidi *et al.*, 2018). The very first step in filter washing is to drain the supernatant liquid and dewater the upper portion of the sand bed (Semiyaga *et al.*, 2017). The biological

membrane and 1 to 2 cm of sand are then eliminated from the sand bed. Re-sanding may be done after the top sand layer has been removed (Kiky, 2018). The filter is then instantly restarted to prevent interrupting biological filter action any longer than necessary (Nkwonta, 2010). The filter bed is replenished with water from the under-drain system. This forces air from the sand pores and overwhelms the filter bed (Wegelin, 1996).

By starting the intake valve and modifying the filtration rate, the operation is restored (Liu *et al.*, 2015). Which method of cleaning the filter physical or hydraulic is used depends on the pattern of residual solids in the filter. Surface filters, such as intake and dynamic filters, separate materials in the inlet zone of the filter (Kiky, 2018). These filters' fine gravel is physically cleaned by flashing the top of the filter with a spade or rake and rinsing the suspended solids from the filter bed (Xiao *et al.*, 2019). Roughing filters with varying filter material sizes function as packed bed filters, allowing solids to penetrate deeply into the filter medium (Nkwonta, 2010).

Periodic filter flushing is used to remove built-up solids. If the maintained solids are not fully separated by hydraulic filter washing, roughing filters may slowly become silted (Wegelin, 1996). Filter blocking up necessitates time-consuming manual washing, which should be prevented anytime possible by performing regular and efficient filter drainages (Solé-Torres *et al.*, 2019). The use of shallow beds in up-flow roughing filters reduces maintenance and construction work, as well as manual washing. Nevertheless, these shallow upward-flow types of roughing filters ought to be used with moderately turbid raw water (Kiky, 2018).

2.8 Benefits of Recycling and Reuse of Wastewater for Irrigation

In our daily activities, a massive amount of wastewater is produced in water treatment plants, factories, homes, and farms (Świątczak and Cydzik-Kwiatkowska, 2018). According to Gabr *et*

al. (2021), wastewater accounts for 50 - 80 % of residential household water usage, and global wastewater discharge is estimated to be 400 billion m^3 /year, contaminating around 5500 billion m^3 of water/year.

The practice of using treated wastewater for irrigation is gaining popularity in many regions of the world as a result of its numerous advantages (Świątczak and Cydzik-Kwiatkowska, 2018). Whereas the younger generation has a positive attitude toward the benefits of recycling wastewater for irrigation purposes, the older population is still cautious to ingest food cultivated using wastewater irrigation (Kihila *et al.*, 2014). Some of the advantages of using wastewater (treated, partially treated, or diluted) in irrigated agriculture are as follows: a large amount of water available all year without being affected by weather conditions, a high nutrient content that can reduce the use of inorganic fertilizers, increasing production on less fertile soils, and reducing the harm caused by eutrophication to freshwater (Świątczak and Cydzik-Kwiatkowska, 2018).

The resulting reduction in pressure on freshwater sources is one of the most well-known advantages of wastewater usage in irrigated agriculture. Ungureanu *et al.* (2020) reported that wastewater from water treatment plants can be used as an alternative irrigation source, particularly for crop production which is the world's largest water user, consuming 70 % of all available water. The use of treated wastewater from water treatment plants (WTP) for irrigation benefits society, the environment, and the economy (Jaramillo and Restrepo, 2017a). This method is being applied in various places facing water shortages and a growing population with increasing water needs especially given the loss in surface and groundwater supplies induced by climatic variability (CV) and climate change (CC) (Becerra-Castro *et al.*, 2015).

33

Wastewater from water treatment plants has a significant nutritional content and therefore has a great potential for irrigated agriculture since it provides organic carbon, macronutrients (N, P, and K), and inorganic micronutrients (Ca, Mg, B, Fe, Mn, or Zn) to crop production (Jaramillo and Restrepo, 2017b). Several studies have highlighted the utility of wastewater, particularly treated water for the irrigation of crops, citing the benefits of enhanced crop yield as a result of the high nutritional content of these effluents (Barreto *et al.*, 2013; Jaramillo and Restrepo, 2017). However, eutrophication conditions in water bodies would be lowered as a result, as would farmer pesticide costs (Victor *et al.*, 2008).

Another opportunity for wastewater reuse in irrigated agriculture would be the reduction of water contamination (Victor *et al.*, 2008). The quality of receiving water bodies improves when wastewater discharge is reduced (Victor *et al.*, 2008). Furthermore, groundwater reserves are protected because they will be replenished with higher-quality water from agriculture (Victor *et al.*, 2008). Furthermore, increased water recycling may help with the construction and optimization of treatment facilities to generate effluent of the desired grade for irrigation purposes, resulting in economic benefits for sanitation projects (Victor *et al.*, 2008). Reducing the cost of wastewater treatment systems, obtained through a certain technological alternative that fulfills the goal of wastewater reuse for irrigated agriculture, may potentially be a viable option in regions where climatic and geographic features permit (Jaramillo and Restrepo, 2017; Ungureanu *et al.*, 2020).

2.9 Guidelines for the Safe Reuse of Wastewater for Irrigated Agriculture

Although governments and other official bodies around the world support the reuse of treated wastewater for crop irrigation, only a small number of wealthy nations have adopted new guidelines or standards regarding the physicochemical and biological characteristics of treated

wastewater to safeguard public health and the environment when used in irrigated agriculture (Ungureanu *et al.*, 2020). Low-income countries lack the funding for wastewater treatment plants and the capacity to adequately treat their wastewater, therefore they frequently utilize it as such, with little alternative but to accept the hazards associated with these practices (Cisneros, 2021). In three out of four cities in developing countries, farmers are currently required to use untreated or partially treated wastewater to irrigate their crops and meet their food needs (Bahri *et al.*, 2016). More than 5.5 billion people are predicted to live in places without wastewater treatment plants by 2035 and if we tie that to the water shortage, we can expect an increase in the occurrence of diseases caused by eating vegetables and fruits grown on wastewater-irrigated land in those areas (Ratna *et al.*, 2021).

Ungureanu *et al.* (2020) and Ratna *et al.* (2021) have stated that the guidelines for wastewater capitalization typically specify physicochemical parameters such as biological oxygen demand (BOD), chemical oxygen demand (COD), nutrients, turbidity, pH, electrical conductivity, and sodium absorption rate (salinity), suspended solids, heavy metals, and microbiological parameters (*Escherichia coli, salmonella, shigella*), depending on the quality of the crops and/or soils, regulations in different nations impose varied limitations for total coliforms, faecal coliforms, *Escherichia coli*, and nematode eggs. They also specify which kinds of crops and/or soils can be irrigated with wastewater (Becerra-Castro *et al.*, 2015; Ungureanu *et al.*, 2020). In 2006, the World Health Organization produced a set of guidelines for the safe reuse of wastewater in agriculture, including treatment and non-treatment recommendations that encompassed the entire food chain. Bacterial pathogens (*Shigella spp., Salmonella spp., Legionella spp., Escherichia coli*, and *Vibrio cholerae*), helminths (*Ascaris* and *Tenia spp.*), and intestinal protozoans (*Giardia* and *Cryptosporidium*) are a worldwide public health concern. Waterborne viruses such as adenovirus,

and rotavirus are the most likely to spread via wastewater reuse (Świątczak and Cydzik-Kwiatkowska, 2018). Thus, health and environmental authorities consider the use of microbiological markers of faecal contamination to be the most reliable approach to assessing the effectiveness of water treatment facilities and the quality of the water they produce (Świątczak and Cydzik-Kwiatkowska, 2018).

The poor adoption of water reuse practices can be explained by the fact that, until recently, there were no unitary laws at the European level governing wastewater recovery (Świątczak and Cydzik-Kwiatkowska, 2018). Nevertheless, the value of reclaimed water needs to be uniform across the member states to meet national environmental and health standards for food hygiene for items used to irrigate agricultural land using treated wastewater (Ungureanu *et al.*, 2020).

The European Commission published a new regulation on the minimum requirement for water reuse for irrigated agriculture on May 25, 2020, which has now entered into force; however, the new guidelines will be implemented beginning on June 26, 2023, and are anticipated to encourage and make it easier for the European Union to reuse water.

Water Parameters	Symbols	Units	Maximum Range
Salt Content			
Electrical Conductivity	EC	dS/m	0 - 07
Total Dissolved Solid	TDS	mg/L	0 - 2000
Cations and Anions			
Calcium	Ca ⁺⁺	me/l	0 - 20
Magnesium	Mg^{++}	me/l	0 - 05
Sodium	Na^+	me/l	0 - 40
Carbonate	$\rm CO_3^-$	me/l	0-01
Chloride	Cl-	me/l	0 - 30
Sulphate	SO_4	me/l	0 - 20
Bicarbonate	HCO3 ⁻	me/l	0 - 10
Nutrients			
Nitrate – Nitrogen	$NO_3 - N$	mg/L	0 - 10
Ammonium – Nitrogen	NH ₄ -N	mg/L	0 - 05
Phosphate – Phosphorus	PO ₄ -N	mg/L	0 - 02
Potassium	\mathbf{K}^+	mg/L	0-01
Miscellaneous			
Acids/Basicity	pН		6.0 - 8.5
Boron	В	mg/L	0 – 15
Sodium Absorption Ratio	SAR	me/l	

Table 2.1: FAO Guideline for Wastewater Quality Parameters for Irrigated Agriculture

Source: Adapted from FAO (2015)

2.9 Wastewater and Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs 6)

This study is in line with the Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 6 of the United Nations, which calls for the provision of water, sanitation, and healthy living for all people, as well as their sustainable management. Andersson *et al.* (2016) assert that SDG 6's objective is to improve water quality through reduced pollution, a ban on dumping, and a restriction on the release of hazardous substances. By 2030, the percentage of untreated wastewater must be cut in half while recycling and safe reuse are both increased internationally. The achievement of this predetermined target would promote the achievement of succeeding Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) that are related to water, such as SDGs 1, 2, and 3 correspondingly.

According to Mabhaudhi *et al.* (2016), wastewater treatment creates a favourable condition for alternative water resources necessary for irrigated agriculture. Capturing this resource would help solve water security, food security, and agriculture productivity challenges. It would also have an added advantage to the environment derived from good wastewater treatment and management by lowering nutrient pollution in our water bodies. Additionally, deaths have been caused by inadequate sanitation and hygiene, typically in children under the age of five in impoverished nations (Alemu, 2017). However, wastewater management, together with sanitation, when given urgent attention will promote healthy living (Andersson *et al.*, 2016).

CHAPTER THREE

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Description of the Study Area

The study was carried out at the Water Treatment Plant (WTP) of the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research-Savannah Agricultural Research Institute (CSIR – SARI) in Nyankpala in the Tolon District of Ghana. It is located at latitude 9.407532 N and longitude 0.9871 W. The area experiences both dry and wet seasons with unimodal rainfall of approximately 1026 mm from May to October with a peak period between August and September. The distribution of temperature is uniform with an average yearly temperature of 28.3 °C (MoFA, 2000).



Figure 3.1: Map of Ghana Showing Tolon District and CSIR-SARI

The drinking water treatment plant at the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research -Savannah Agricultural Research Institute (CSIR - SARI) in Tamale, Ghana has a standard treatment scheme that is used to treat surface water from a constructed dugout for domestic purposes. The water treatment plant setup at CSIR-SARI has two sedimentation tanks with capacities between 45 and 53 cubic meters respectively and two filtration tanks with an equal capacity of 23 cubic meters on each tank; the final stage is the clear well tank with a capacity of 4.5 cubic meters before the clean water goes to the distribution tank with 91 cubic meters capacity. The treatment process at CSIR - SARI exists out of coagulation; flocculation occurs at the sedimentation and filtration tanks with the use of alum sulphide. At the coagulation and flocculation stage, 3 kg per 750 ml cup or more of alum sulphide is used in the water treatment to trap suspended soils and other materials in the raw water, depending on the turbidity of the water, especially in the rainy season where the raw water becomes more turbid followed by settling and granular filtration. During this process, wastewater sludge is generated. Wastewater sludge is the waste product existing out of the water, suspended solids, and flocculants chemicals. The last stage is the disinfection of the filtered water from bad odour and taste with the use of 3 kg of chlorine before distributing the clean water for domestic purposes. The wastewater sludge at the (CSIR – SARI) drinking water treatment plant is a reliable and all-year-round water resource that can be treated and reused for irrigation and non-critical purposes (Bauer *et al.*, 2021).

3.2 Materials and Equipment Used for the Study

The river sand was gotten from Nyankpala town, the chipping stones were fetched at UDS Nyankpala at the green people project site and the crush stones were collected at kukuo community under sagnarigu municipal. This material was considered because their locally available and can easily be gotten from anywhere. The purpose of the these materials were key in the design of a roughing filter because it improves the physical and the chemical properties of the wastewater sludge. The materials and equipment used for the study are presented in Table 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, and Figure 2.2.

Item	Quantity	Size
Poly Tank	1	1800 L
PVC pipe	5	63 mm
Valves	2	110 mm
PVC T-joint	2	110 mm
PVC Elbow	6	63-110 mm
End cap	4	63 mm

 Table 3.1: Material for Sedimentation Tank

Source: Adapted from Kreijen (2020)

Table 1.2	: Materials	for Filtration	Tank
-----------	-------------	----------------	------

Item	Quantity	Size
Poly Tank	1	1800 L
PVC Elbow	4	63-110 mm
End Cap	6	63 mm
Valves	3	110 mm
PVC T-joint	1	110 mm
Reducing Bend	5	
PVC Glue	3	
Tape Measure	1	
Saw	1	
HDPE Pipes	1	100 m
Pump	1	35 m ³ /hr
PVC Cutter	1	
PVC Union	5	
Electric Flow Meter	1	
PVC Pipes	10	

Source: Adapted from Kreijen (2020)

Layer	Depth of the Layer (cm)	Filter Type	Size of Filter Material
			(mm)
1	40	Crushed stones	18 - 24
2	40	Chippings	12 - 18
3	40	River Sand	4 - 8

Table 3.3: Materials for Roughing Filter Setup

Source: Adapted from Kreijen (2020)



Figure 2.2: Materials for Roughing Filter Setup

3.3 Setup of the Sedimentation Tank

There are a few commonly used sedimentation tank types, but this research focused on the vertical settling tank. The inlet valve was placed at the bottom of the tank and the outlet flow valve was placed at the top of the tank where the inlet valve is connected to a 35 m³/hr gasoline pump to lift the wastewater sludge through a HDPE pipe for treatment. This is so because particles with a higher velocity will settle faster. The vertical sedimentation tank was designed to have a low flow velocity, to be used for flocculants settling which has lower efficiency for discrete settling than a horizontal flow setting tank.

To avoid rapid clogging of the filter, a sedimentation tank was installed to accommodate the wastewater sludge for pretreatment. The sedimentation tank was placed on an overhead metal stand of 1.88 m in length by 1.25 m in width with 2.45 m in height. An HDPE pipe of 100 m was

connected to a 35 m³/hr gasoline pump to lift the wastewater sludge from a 100 m distance from the source (dugout) to the sedimentation tank. An L-shaped (60 x 40 cm) pipe network with the longest side being 60 cm and a height of 40 cm is laid at the base of the sedimentation tank. The sedimentation tank was designed in that manner to avoid the disturbance of the settled sludge at the bottom of the tank anytime the wastewater is pumped from the source before the wastewater starts moving through the filtration process. The flow of pretreated sludge is by gravity which will remove the suspended solids (SS) such as flocs, sand, clay, etc. The principle of sedimentation is based on the difference in the densities between suspended solids and water. However, the wastewater sludge could settle within 10 days to avoid clogging the roughing filter before the filtration process begins. Due to stable and non-turbulent flow in the sedimentation tank, heavier particles settled in the settling zone during the 10 days. Subsequently, sludge accumulated at the bottom of the sedimentation tank and moved through the outlet flow after which the pretreated wastewater was released into the roughing filter in the filtration tank. The up-flow velocity depends on the dimension of the tank and the flow rate. Retention time (HRT) in the settling tank is the most important variable. The sedimentation tank HRT was within an hour, which ensured better settling efficiency.



Figure 3.3: Inner View of the Inlet Pipe (Left) and Inlet Pipe Network (right)

Figure 3: Inner View of the Inlet Pipe (Left) and Inlet Pipe Network (right)

3.4 Design Parameters of Vertical Sedimentation Tank

The key parameters taken into consideration whilst designing the vertical sedimentation tank were:

- 1. Volume (V) of the tank [m³]
- 2. Height (h) of the tank [m]
- 3. Diameter (d) [m] / surface (A) of the tank [m²]
- 4. Inlet/outlet flow [m³/hr]
- 5. Up-flow velocity [m/h]
- 6. Hydraulic retention time (HRT) [hr]

3.5 Setup of Filtration Tank

After mounting the sedimentation tank, the filtration tank together with its drain system was connected inside the tank. The filtration tank was filled with local materials such as crushed stones, chippings, and river sand. These materials were arranged and filled in three uniform layers with different grain sizes. Each layer had a height of 40 cm and the total bed height was 120 cm. The order of the arrangement of roughing filter materials was crushed stones as the first layer at the bottom of the tank with sizes ranging from 18 - 24 mm, chippings at the second layer with sizes of 8 - 12 mm, and the third layer river sand with sizes of 4 - 8 mm. The pretreated wastewater was filtered into the filtration tank through the base of the roughing filter to the top of the filter bed for collection. Both tanks were connected, with the sedimentation tank connected to the main source. Both tanks were installed with a T-section valve at the water inflow pipe. This T-section joint has two valves; one for shutting off the water inlet and the other for releasing water through the outlet pipe.

A multiple PVC pipe distribution network system or drain was designed and installed at the base of the filtration tank to divide the in-flowing pretreated wastewater. This PVC network system was connected to control valve s to reduce the hydraulic water energy. The outlet openings in the distribution pipes network were no larger than the filtration grains to prevent filter materials from being washed during back-washing.

The technical design of this system is shown in Figure 3.3



Figure 3.3: Inner View of the Inlet Pipe (Left) and Inlet Pipe Network (right)

3.6 Design Parameters of a Roughing Filter

The design parameters of the roughing filter are presented in Table 3.4.

 Table 3.4: Design Parameters of the Roughing Filter

1. The volume of the tank (m^3)	7. Up-flow velocity (m/hr)
2. Height of the tank (m)	8. Hydraulic retention time (hr)
3. Height of the filters bed (m)	9. Height of the layers (m)
4. Diameter of the tank (m)	10. Grain size layer (m)
5. The surface area of the Tank (m^2)	11. Filtration velocity (m/hr)

6. Inlet/outlet flow (m ³ /hr)	

3.7 Calculating the Necessary Parameters of the Sedimentation and Filtration Tanks

The formulae for estimating the parameters of sedimentation and filtration tanks are presented in Equations 3.1 to 3.7 as given by Wegelin (1996) and Kreijen (2020).

Volume of the tank, $[m^3] = 0.25 \times \pi \times D^2 \times h = A \times h$ Equation 3.1
Area of the tank, $A = 0.25 \times \pi \times D^2$ Equation 3.2
The up-flow velocity of the tank = Q_A
Hydraulic Retention Time (HRT) of the Tank = $\frac{v}{t}$
The flow rate of the Tank, $m^3/s = \frac{v}{t}$ Equation 3.5
Filtration Velocity of the Tank (m/hr) = $\frac{Q}{A}$ Equation 3.6
Discharge of the Tank (Q) = AV Equation 3.7
Where;
A – Surface area,
D – Diameter,
h-height,
t – time,
Q – discharge, and
v – volume.

3.8 Washing of Filter Materials

Filter materials were carefully washed two times before they were arranged into the filtration tank. The crushed stones chippings and river sand were washed from organic materials, silts, and clay particles. This was done because the biodegradables could degrade and affect the odour and the particles tardily moved out of the filter could heighten the treated water's turbidity.

3.9 Physical Properties of Filter Media

The following methods were used to determine the physical properties of the filtering media and different microbial, chemical, and major nutrient parameters. The filter material comprised crushed stones, chippings, and river sand. The bulk densities of the different filter materials were found by measuring their volume with a graduated cylinder and recording its weight with a scale. The association among the volume and weight, as given by Rühlmann *et al.* (2006) was employed in determining the bulk density using the following formulae.

 $\rho = \frac{m_{fm}}{V_{fm}}$Equation 3.8

Where;

 ρ –bulk density (gcm⁻³),

 V_{fm} – the volume of the filter media (cm³), and

 m_{fm} – the mass of the dried filter media (g).

The mean filter media particle density was computed using the liquid immersion approach as elaborated by Ruhlmanna *et al.* (2006). Particle density (Equation 3.9) as given by Rühlmann *et al.* (2006) was determined using the formula.

Where;

 ρ_p – the density of the particles (gcm⁻³),

 V_{fp} – the volume of the filter media excluding pore space (cm³), and

 m_{fm} – the mass of the dried filter (g).

The porosity of the filter media, as developed by Rühlmann *et al.* (2006) was calculated by finding the ratio between the average particle density and bulk density of the different media used



Where:

- n the porosity of the filter media (%),s
- ρ_{b} the bulk density (gcm⁻³), and
- ρ_p the density of the particles (gcm⁻³).



a. River Sand b. Crushed Stones c. Chippings

Figure 3.4: Determination of Physical Properties of Filter Materials

3.10 Sample Collection

Separate water samples were collected for both physic-chemical and microbiological/ bacteriological analyses. All samples for the physic-chemical analyses were collected directly into pre-cleaned 1000 ml plastic sample bottles from the wastewater sludge, pretreated, and filtered.

For bacteriological assessment, samples were collected into sterilized 1000 ml sample bottles from these same sites. The samples were stored in an insulated box with ice and transported to the WRI water quality laboratory for analysis.

A total number of twelve (12) wastewater sludge samples were collected for analysis which included three (3) samples each of untreated water, sludge, pretreated water, and filtered water collected from the water treatment plant. Pretreated wastewater from the sedimentation tank, allowed to settle after 10 days was collected for analysis.

3.11 Laboratory Analysis of Wastewater Sludge Parameters

The physicochemical and bacteriological analyses were undertaken according to procedures outlined in the Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, 23rd Edition (APHA, 2012).

The physical parameters of wastewater sludge which include; Temperature, pH, Electrical Conductivity (EC), Odour, Total Suspended Solids (TSS), and Turbidity were evaluated and the chemical parameters that were examined are Dissolved Oxygen (DO), Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD), Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD), Salinity, Total Dissolved Solids (TDS). However, the nutrients that were taken into consideration were Nitrate-Nitrogen, Ammonium-Nitrogen, Phosphate-Phosphorus, and Potassium.

Escherichia coli, Total Coliform, and Faecal Coliform are among the microbiological characteristics that were determined. The following lists common approaches used to establish appropriate parameters.

49

3.11.1 Determination of Ammonia

Ammonia in the wastewater sludge was determined using the Nessler method as given by American Public Health Association (APHA, 2012).

Each wastewater sample contained 5 ml, which was combined with 1 ml Roscheil salt and 25 ml of distilled water to make a total volume of 25 ml.

- 1. After adding 1 ml of Nessler regent to the solution, the spectrophotometer measurement was taken after 1 minute of reaction time.
- 2. The DR 2800 spectrophotometer was zeroed with distilled water, and the prepared sample was utilized to take the real reading.

3.11.2 Determination of Phosphate Phosphorus

Phosphate phosphorus in the wastewater sludge was determined using the stannous method as given by American Public Health Association (APHA 2012).

One drop of Phenolphthalein indicator was applied to a determined volume of 100 ml of the clear, colorless wastewater sample in a flask.

- 1. The Molybdate reagent was re-added in a volume of 4 ml, and then 10 drops of Stannous Chlorine reagent were added, all of which were thoroughly mixed by shaking.
- 2. First, 2.0 ml of the standard phosphate solution was placed into a volumetric flask and diluted to 100 ml to create a blank solution for the spectrophotometer.
- 3. The sample was put into the spectrophotometer after 10 minutes, but before 12 minutes, and the absorbance at a wavelength of 690 nm was measured.
- 4. The concentration of the wastewater samples was calculated from a calibration curve using their measured absorbance, mg/L.

3.11.3 Determination of Total Phosphorous

Total phosphorus in the wastewater sludge was determined using the Acid Persulfate Digestion Method as given by American Public Health Association (APHA, 2012).

- 1. The potassium Persulfate pillows content was put into the Total Phosphorous test tube vial along with 5.0 ml of the wastewater sample, and the vial was then sealed.
- 2. After shaking the container to dissolve the powder, it was put into the reactor.
- 3. A 30 minutes reaction time was set on the instrument timer.
- 4. After the allotted time had passed, the vial was carefully taken out of the reactor and put in a test tube rack to cool to ambient temperature.
- 5. 2 ml of 1.5N sodium hydroxide standard solution was added to the vial that was at room temperature.
- 6. To mix, the vial was covered and flipped over.
- 7. After cleaning, the vial was put into a 16 mm cell holder.
- 8. After being tarred, the instrument displayed 0.00 mg/L PO₄ $^{3-}$.
- 9. One phosver 3 powder pillows worth of powder was put into the vial containing the test sample.
- 10. For around 30 seconds, the vial was covered and shaken to mix, causing the powder partially dissolve.
- 11. The instrument was set for a 2-minute response time after which the vial was cleaned and put into 16 cell holders.
- 12. After two minutes of reaction time had passed the read bottom was pressed, and the sample was measured within 2 to 8 minutes.
- 13. The outcome was displayed as mg/L of PO_4^{3-} .

3.11.4 Determination of Nitrate-Nitrogen

Nitrate-Nitrogen in the wastewater sludge was determined using the hydrazine Reduction Method as given by American Public Health Association (APHA 2012).

- 1. The aliquot or a 10 ml sample of the wastewater effluent was put into a clean test tube.
- 2. Then, 1.0 ml of a reduction mixture consisting of 20.0 ml of copper sulphate working solution and 16.0 ml of hydrazine sulphate was added, and the mixture was gently mixed before being heated at 600 °C for 10 minutes in a water bath.
- After the mixture had cooled to room temperature, 1.0 ml of colour development solution (consisting of roughly 150 ml of distilled water and 2.5 ml concentrated phosphoric acid) was added.
- After the sulphanilamide had completely dissolved, 0.19g N-(1- naphthyl)- ethylenediamine dihydrochlorine was added, and 250 ml of distilled water was topped off.
- 5. The wastewater samples' absorbance was measured using a UV/VIS spectrophotometer at a wavelength of 520 nm after it had been agitated to mix. Before the reading, a calibration curve was created using the standards for the last use.

3.11.5 Determination of Total and Faecal Coliform

The total and faecal coliform were determined using the heterotrophic plate count method as given by American Public Health Association (APHA, 2012).

- 1. A tiny pipette was used to transfer 1 ml of the samples into a 100 ml test tube.
- 2. After diluting the 1 ml samples in the test tube to 100 ml, they were vigorously shaken to achieve homogeneity.
- 3. The material was then diluted, and 1 ml was then added to the placed Petri dishes.

- In boiling water, solids McConkey agar medium was melted, then allowed to cool to 42 ^oC.
- 5. The melted McConkey agar medium was then added to the diluted sample in a quantity of 10 ml.
- 6. After being shaken for even mixing, the Petri dish was placed upside down in the incubator.
- 7. The inspection took 24 hours to complete.
- 8. The Coliform Forming Unit (CFU) per 100 ml was then measured using the coliform counter.
- 9. To calculate the ideal count of faecal and total coliform, the final results were multiplied by the dilution factor of 100.
- 10. Faecal coliform was identified by a cream color, while total coliform was identified by pink color

3.11.6 Determination of Nitrate

Nitrate in the wastewater sludge was determined using the Spectrophotometric Method as given by American Public Health Association (APHA, 2012).

- 1. Nitrate 1 and Nitrate 2 tablets were each broken and dropped in 10 ml of the sample wastewater.
- 2. The reaction time for the mixture was then given 6 minutes before the spectrophotometer reading.
- 3. Before taking the reading, one original sample was utilized to zero the DR 2800 spectrophotometer.

3.11.7 Determination of Nitrite

Nitrite in the wastewater sludge was determined using the colorimetric method as given by American Public Health Association (APHA, 2012).

- 1. A clean Erlenmeyer flask was used to measure 50 ml of each wastewater sample, and 2 ml of solution 1 and 2 Gricess-were Hosvay's added concurrently.
- 2. Following a gentle swirling of the samples, the mixture was given 15 minutes for a reaction.
- 3. The sample was then put into nesseler's tube, and the DR 2800 spectrophotometer was zeroed with it before the nitrite level was read.

3.11.8 Determination of Phosphorus

Phosphorus in the wastewater sludge was determined using the spectrophotometric method as given by American Public Health Association (APHA, 2012).

The DR 2800 Spectrophotometer had program number 490 inserted.

- 1. One puff of phosvate 3 powder was added after 25 ml of the sample cell had been filled.
- 2. There was a two-minute grace period for reactions.
- 3. To calibrate the DR 2800 spectrophotometer, the second 25 ml cell with the sample was filled with the blank.
- 4. To calculate the amount of phosphorus in milligrams per liter (mg/L) the observed value was first divided by 3.

3.11.9 Determination of Electrical Conductivity

Electrical conductivity in the wastewater sludge was determined using the bench conductivity meter method as given by American Public Health Association (APHA, 2012).

1. At the time of sample collection, a reading was taken.

- 2. The conductivity cell and the beaker or vessel into which a part of the sample is to be tested were both carefully cleaned and rinsed.
- 3. Before the analysis, the device was calibrated using standard solutions.
- 4. The sample had been poured into the beaker entirely.
- 5. The sample-containing beaker was filled with the cell.
- 6. The suggested value was read off in either S/cm depending on the magnitude of the value when the wastewater sample and the cell reached the same temperature.

3.11.10 Determination of Turbidity

Turbidity in the wastewater sludge was determined using the turbidimeter and nephelometric method as given by American Public Health Association (APHA 2012).

- 1. The turbidity of wastewater samples was measured.
- 2. A sample cell was filled at least two-thirds full after the 1500 ml samples were violently shaken.
- 3. Using the range knob on the turbidimeter (HACH 2100P), the proper range was chosen.
- 4. Upon the appearance of red light, the next range was chosen, and the stable turbidity reading was obtained directly from the turbidimeter.

3.11.11 Determination of pH

pH in the wastewater sludge was determined using the suntex pH meter as given by American Public Health Association (APHA, 2012). The hydrogen ion concentration or pH values of the wastewater were measured (in situ) APHA, 2005.

1. The electrode was connected to the meter, and pH 4, pH 7, and pH 10 buffer solutions were used to calibrate the instrument.

- 2. The temperature of each buffer solution and the effluent samples for analysis were matched.
- 3. The pH buffer solution was then added to a beaker after it had been washed.
- 4. A steady reading was taken after the electrode was immersed, agitated twice, and suspended in the solution for one to two minutes
- 5. The electrode was taken out, cleaned with deionized water, and gently shaken to shake off the extra water.
- 6. The pH calibration was tested after the electrode was removed and cleaned with deionized water once more.
- 7. The samples' pH was assessed as so, and the results were recorded.

3.11.12 Determination of Dissolved Oxygen

The amount of dissolved oxygen in a specific amount of wastewater serves as a proxy for the wastewater's ability to support life. It was determined using the winkler method (APHA, 2005) as given by American Public Health Association (APHA, 2012).

- ml of concentrated H₂ SO₄ was added to the already–fixed wastewater sample in the DO bottle before the bottle was stoppered and stirred by repeatedly tilting it until complete dissolving took place.
- 2. A 0.025M Na₂S₂O₃ solution was used to titrate the dissolved sample to a light straw color.
- 3. A few drops of the starch solution were added, and the titration was continued until the blue color first vanished.
- 4. It takes 1 ml of 0.025M Na₂S₂O₃ to titrate a 200 ml sample to 1 mg of DO per liter

3.11.13 Determination of Biochemical Oxygen Demand

The level of dissolved oxygen (DO) was assessed both before and after incubation.

The difference between the first and final measurements of the first and final measurements of the dissolved oxygen concentration was used to compute the BOD concentration. BOD in the wastewater sludge was determined using the dilution method as given by American Public Health Association (APHA 2012).

MnSO₂ and dissolved oxygen alkali-iodide-Azide solution totaling 2.0 ml each were added to the wastewater sample in the BOD bottle.

- 1. The bottle was meticulously corked to eliminate air bubbles and thoroughly shaken by repeatedly inverting it.
- 2. After allowing the precipitates to settle, 2.0 ml of concentration $H_2S_2O_4$ was added.
- 3. To dissolve the precipitate, which resulted in a vivid yellow coloration, the bottle was corked once again and repeatedly turned upside down.
- 4. The solution was next titrated with $Na_2S_2O_3$ to a pale-yellow color in 100 ml.
- 5. As an indication, 1.0 ml of starch was added.
- 6. The titration was carried out until the blue color first started to fade.
- 7. These steps were used to calculate the BOD levels; (D1-D2)/P = BOD5, (mg/L) Where P = decimal volumetric fraction of sample used, D1=DO of the sample immediately following preparation, mg/1, D2=DO of the sample after 5 days of incubation at 200C, mg/L.

3.12 Data Analysis

The laboratory analysis of wastewater sludge results which include physicochemical parameters as well as microbial and biological parameters was done using Microsoft excel which include; tables and graphs were used to interpret the results.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Design and Installation of Roughing Filter for Sludge Filtration

4.1.1 Design of Roughing Filter

The sedimentation tank was designed and placed on an overhead metallic stand above the filtration tank. The overhead metallic stand has a height of 300 cm whilst the surface area of the platform of the overhead stand was $28,800 \text{ cm}^2$ (180 cm by 160 cm). as illustrated in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1: Design of a Filter System for Wastewater Sludge Treatment


Figure 4.2: Design of a Filter Distribution and Drainage System Installed in the Filtration Tank



Figure 4.3: Design of Filter Inlet Flow Installed in the Sedimentation Tank

The holes where the metal stand poles were placed were hardened with concrete to keep them very firm to the ground. The filter tank which is under the metal stand was also placed on a concrete platform at a height of 40 cm as presented in Figure 4.1. Both tanks were connected i.e. the

sedimentation tank to the source (dugout) of sludge and the filtration to the outlet. The sedimentation tank has a non-return valve (NRV) inlet which enables the wastewater sludge to flow exclusively in one direction and was inserted to ensure the wastewater sludge travel through the pipe in the right direction when pressure circumstance may otherwise result in the reserved flow. A flow meter was installed on a 1-inch pipe to determine the amount of wastewater sludge that passes through the inlet pipe into the sedimentation tank. PVC T-section were installed at the water inflow pipes which contain two control valves. One of the valves is for shutting the wastewater sludge inlet and the other one which is the fast drainage valve allows wastewater sludge to pass through the drainage pipe when the valve is open or when back-washing the sedimentation tank.

The inlet flow pipes for both the sedimentation and filtration tank were positioned 5 cm above the bottom of the tanks. The wastewater sludge outflow pipe was 5 cm below the water level of the in-flowing wastewater sludge for the sedimentation tank and 20 cm at the upper part of the filter bed below the wastewater sludge level of the in-flowing sludge for the filtration tank. Poly tank connectors such of 50.8 (mm) and 25.4 (mm) pipes, reducers, elbows, reunions, valves, and T-joints were installed at their proper positions. These materials were glued to prevent leakage occurrence in the system.

The sedimentation tank was connected to an L-shape inlet valve (60 cm x 40 cm) as it is shown in Figure 4.3 with the longest part placed inside the bottom of the tank and the shorter part vertically positioned. This ensures that after the wastewater sludge goes through the pre-treatment or the settling stage, most of the suspended particles settle at bottom of the tank; and anytime wastewater is pumped from the source, it does not disturb the settled sludge and cause the pretreated wastewater to flow through the inlet valve to the filtration tank. Wastewater sludge went through

the settling or the pretreated stage for seven days after it was pumped into the sedimentation tank to allow all the suspended particles to settle before filtration. The pre-treatment stage is very important because if the wastewater sludge is not allowed to settle before filtration, it will clog the filter easily, rendering it inefficient due to the presence of suspended particles in the wastewater. It is for this reason that the wastewater must go through the settling stage before filtration and that is why the L-shape inlet valve is necessary to prevent sludge from entering the filter tank during the filtration process.

a. Filter Tank

Pretreated wastewater in the sedimentation tank flowed out through the wastewater distribution system under gravitational force as the pump continued to lift wastewater sludge from the source to the sedimentation tank. The pretreated wastewater has been distributed homogeneously over the filter surface to avoid souring of the filter media. The pretreated wastewater hydraulic energy was reduced by installing T-sections at the wastewater inflow with a length of 1 m multiple PVC pipes at the bottom of the filtration tank to divide the inflow of the pretreated wastewater. This T-section contains two (2) valves: one is for shutting off the inlet valve and the other is the drainage valve for letting the wastewater flow through the drainage pipe when opened. The technical design of this system is shown in Figure 4.2 with its dimensions. The design was in such a way that the outlets opening in distribution pipes diameter are not larger than the filtering grains to prevent the filtered materials from being washed out during back-washing. This was then placed 5 cm above the filter bottom in the filter bed. After back-washing, when the filter is emptied of water, the drainage valve must be shut and the inflow valve can be reopened.

4.1.2 Physical Properties of Filter Materials Used

The physical properties of materials used in setting-up the roughing filter Table 4.1 presents . The filter comprised three (3) layers, and every layer was made up of different materials. The top layer is comprised of river sand with particle diameters in the range of 4 - 8 mm. The middle layer was chipping stones with particle diameters ranging from 8 - 12 mm, and crushed stones were used for the bottom layer with a particle diameter of 18 and above. The dry bulk density of the river sand recorded the highest value (2.50 g/cm³), followed by the chipping stones which had a value of 1.50 g/cm³, and the crushing stones recorded a value of 1,45 g/cm³. The particle density for the river sand, chippings???, and crushed stones were 2.65 g/cm³, 2.57 g/cm³, and 2.62 g/cm³ respectively. The most porous material among the three (3) filter materials used is the crushed stones which had a value of 5.9 %.

Filter material	Diameter	Dry Bulk Density	Particle Density	Porosity
	(mm)	(g/cm^3)	(g/cm^3)	(%)
River sand	4 -8	2.50	2.65	5.9
Chippings	8 - 12	1.50	2.57	41.6
Crushed stones	18 +	1.45	2.62	44.7

 Table 4.1: Physical Properties of Filter Materials used in Roughing Filter Layers

The various filter materials' particle diameter was considered due to the nature of wastewater sludge generated at the study site. With bigger particle sizes, more suspended particles escape in the process of filtration and are trapped by the smaller particles. Hatt *et al.* (2006) reported that, smaller particle size tends to trap more suspended solids and/or contaminants. Some materials are more porous than others, and this is a design check to ensure that whilst some particles escape from more porous layers, they are trapped in a less porous media layer. This is because varying pore spaces translate into varying efficiencies in removing different suspended solids and/or contaminants in wastewater (Abagale, 2014).

4.2 Operation and Maintenance of the Filtration System

After testing the system, suspended solids accumulated in the filter bed were back-washed. This was done by closing the inlet valve and opening the drainage valve at the other end of the T-section joint valve. The wastewater present in the sedimentation tank flowed out by gravity with high velocity. Due to the high flow velocity, sediments contained in both tanks were flushed out and the sedimentation and filtration tanks were cleaned again. The valves were turned to the default setting so that the filtration system can operate again.

The filtration rate (FR) for this study was 1.5 m/h which means that it took the pre-filtered wastewater sludge contained in the filter tank for one and a half hours before it was collected as filtered water. The value obtained is similar to that of SKAT (1996) who conducted research and discovered that the rate of filtration of roughing filters ranges between 0.3 m/h and 1.5 m/h.

Hydraulic retention time (HRT) of the pre-filtered wastewater sludge was retained in the filtration tank for over an hour which agreed with the results of other researchers such as Jeong *et al.* (2016). Jeong *et al.* (2016) reported that, if wastewater takes less than an hour to go through the filtration process in the filter tank it may not achieve a good result. The reason is that the wastewater rushes through the filter without the regulation of the flow during the filtration process which does not give better results. The flow velocity (FV) of the system where wastewater sludge is pumped from the source into the sedimentation tank was 0.8 l/s.

4.3 Properties of Wastewater Sludge Before and After Filtration

Table 4.2 presents the summary statistics of the physical and chemical properties, and nutrient and microbiological levels of wastewater sludge from the Savannah Agriculture Research Institute

(SARI) water treatment site. The levels of these properties were compared with the FAO 2015, WHO 2006, or EPA 2008 standard limits.

Parameter				%	FAO 2015/WHO 2006/EPA
Name	Abbreviation	Mean ±SD		Increment	2008 Guideline
Physical		Before Filtration	After	or Removal	
			Filtration		
Power of Hydrogen	pН	6.20 ± 0.26	6.61 ± 0.01	29.89	$6.0 - 8.5^{\rm f}$
Temperature	T (°C)	22.71 ± 0.15	29.50 ± 0.10	23.02	< 30 ^f
Total Dissolved Solids	TDS (mg/L)	102.67 ± 4.93	0.00 ± 0.00	100	$0 - 2000^{\rm f}$
Total Suspended Solids	TSS (mg/L)	3191.67 ± 541.30	105.00 ± 1.00	96.71	$0 - 50.0^{\rm e}$
Turbidity	-	8198.67 ± 1123	19.00 ± 0.50	99.77	$0 - 75^{e}$
Salinity	Salinity (ppt)	201.00 ± 021	0.002 ± 0.00	99.99	$0.7 - 3^{f}$
Chemical					
Chemical Oxygen Demand	COD (mg/L)	16.00 ± 0.2	102.67 ± 4.93	98.2	$0-1^{e}$
Dissolved Oxygen	DO (mg/L)	1.85 ± 0.05	24.67 ± 13.58	54.19	$0 - 250^{e}$
Biological Oxygen Demand	BOD (mg/L)	0.95 ± 0.01	6.74 ± 3.75	85.91	$0 - 50.0^{e}$
Nutrient					
Nitrate Nitrogen	NO ₃ -N (mg/L)	1.03 ± 0.12	8.19 ± 0.00	87.42	$0 - 10.0^{f}$
Nitrite Nitrogen	NO ₂ -N (mg/L)	$0E-7 \pm 0E-8$	-	-	$0 - 5.0^{f}$
Ammonium Nitrogen	NH ₄ -N (mg/L)	1.43 ± 0.098	0.74 ± 0.00	48.39	$0 - 2.0^{\rm f}$
Phosphate Phosphorus	PO ₄ -N (mg/L)	0.096 ± 0.06	0.02 ± 0.00	77	$0-1^{\mathrm{f}}$
Potassium	K^+ (mg/L)	0.47 ± 0.13	0.40 ± 0.01	14.89	
Microbiological					
Total Coliform	(cfu/100ml)	200 ± 0.00	100 ± 0.00	50	0-400 ^w
Faecal Coliform	(cfu/100ml)	60 ± 0.00	8 ± 0.00	86.67	$0 - 10^{w}$
E. coli	(cfu/100ml)	25 ± 0.00	4 ± 0.00	84	$0-10^{\mathrm{w}}$
Salmonella spp	(cfu/100ml)	0 ± 0.00	0 ± 0.00	0	-

Table 4.2: Summary Statistics of Wastewater Sludge Properties Before and After Filtration

f - FAO 2015 Guidelines for Wastewater Quality Parameters for Irrigated Agriculture

w - WHO 2006 Guidelines for wastewater quality parameters for Irrigated Agriculture

e - EPA 2008 Guidelines for wastewater quality parameters

4.3.1 Physical Properties of Wastewater Sludge Before and After Filtration

The results of the physical properties of the wastewater sludge generated from the Savannah Agriculture Research Institute (SARI) recorded before and after filtration as presented in Table 4.2 showed that the pH level of the wastewater sludge before and after filtration was 6.20 ± 0.26 and 6.61±0.01 respectively. The pH levels for both the wastewater sludge before filtration and after filtration were compared to the Food and Agriculture Organization (2015) standard guidelines limits of 6.0 - 8.5 for irrigated agriculture. The filtered wastewater sludge was within Ghana Standard guidelines 2011 and World Health Organization 2006 guidelines ranging from 6.0 -8.5 for irrigation purposes. The World Health Organization (2006) report found that irrigation water with pH levels outside of this range has a higher propensity to affect the mobility of heavy metals in the soils, leading to the mobile metals being absorbed by crops and further contaminating water sources/bodies during runoff. Nyiyongu et al. (2019) found that wastewater with an unfavourable pH concentration is difficult to treat biologically and that if the concentration is not changed before discharge, the wastewater effluent may change the concentration in natural waters. The mean electrical conductivity (EC) indicating the levels of salinity in the wastewater sludge before and after filtration were 202.67 µS/cm and 157 µS/cm respectively. The values recorded for wastewater sludge before and after filtration did not meet FAO, 2015 standard guidelines ranging from $0.7 - 3 \mu$ S/cm, despite the reduced levels in the EC after the filtration process has taken place, this maybe affected by temperature because the warmer the wastewater sludge the higher the electrical conductivity during the filtration process and for this reason, EC recorded 157 µS/cm after filtration or inorganic dissolved solids such as chloride, nitrate, phosphate may also have an impact on the EC of the wastewater sludge hence, could not meet the FAO, 2015 standard guidelines.

Total Dissolved Solids (TDS) mean values of the wastewater sludge before and after filtration ranged from 0 mg/L to 102.67 mg/L, which falls in the range of FAO, 2015 standard limits of 0 -2000 mg/L for irrigation purposes. The mean Total Suspended Solids (TSS) levels for wastewater sludge before and after filtration recorded values from 3191.667 mg/L to 105 mg/L, and were compared to FAO, 2015 standard guidelines limits of 0 to 200 mg/L for irrigation purposes. Muhammad et al. (2011) reported that high dissolved solids water can harm crop output when used for irrigation because the dissolved salts make it more challenging for plants to absorb water from the soil. The causes of the huge value recorded in the wastewater sludge before treatment could be a result of dissolved organic and inorganic substances in the accumulated sludge due to the alum used during the flocculation and coagulation process of the raw water; hence, the need for the wastewater sludge to go through a filtration process to reduce the levels of dissolved solids in the wastewater. The best and most efficient method for removing TDS from water and its harmful effects is typically through a water filtration system (Chaukura et al., 2020; Thibault et al., 2021). It was also observed that, due to the multiple filter layers, the concentration of the total dissolved solids was reduced drastically to acceptable limits for reuse.

The average turbidity level of the wastewater sludge before and after filtration ranged from 8198.67 - 19 NTU, representing 99.77 % removal efficiency. The final level of turbidity falls within the acceptable limits of the FAO standard of 0 - 75 NTU for irrigated agriculture. In evaluating the removal efficiency of different roughing filters, Adel *et al.* (2014) found that the filters can remove colloids and particles in the range of 73.33 - 87.88 %. Although this range of values is lower than what was recorded in this study, it affirms the level of efficiency of the designed system, and the suitability of roughing filters to reduce the turbidity of roughing filters. However, Liu *et al.* (2019) bio slow sand filter had a better removal efficiency (> 99 %).

Before filtration, the wastewater sludge was full of suspended particles and colloids (Figure 4.4). Thus, the need for sludge to go through filtration to improve the quality of the water.



Figure 4: Visual Observation of Turbidity of Wastewater Sludge Before (left) and After (right) Filtration

The turbidity of the wastewater sludge improves significantly after filtration.. As a metric for water quality, the more turbid the water is, the poorer it's quality (Teh *et al.*, 2016). The change that occurs from turbid irrigation water is comparable to suspended solids and must thus, be measured and regulated (Jeong *et al.*, 2016). Kahle *et al.* (2021) stated that turbidity is an optical quality parameter that describes how clear or cloudy water is in general. It has to do with color, although it is more about the loss of transparency caused by suspended particles and colloidal materials. These statistics, known as suspended solids are utilized as an indicator of water quality.

The salinity levels before and after filtration were 201 mg/L and 0.002 mg/L respectively. This depicts a filter removal efficiency of 99.99 %. The salinity level after filtration falls within the FAO, 2015 acceptable limits of salinity of water (0.7 to 3 mg/L) for agriculture purposes. The reason for the wastewater sludge to record higher salinity levels could be a result of the presents

of organic and inorganic pollutants that emanate from the water treatment station where alum is applied to raw water to trap all the suspended particles at the bottom of the tank before filtration, and as a result of the accumulated sludge, salinity increases. Therefore, it can be considered that filtration improves water salinity. Sometimes too, it could be farming activities upstreams of the dugout that washes contaminants into the dugout during raining season, making the water saline. Water that is too saline can have a significant impact on crop growth. Because of the difference in osmotic pressure, crops will find it difficult to absorb water resulting in stunted growth (Niu and Cabrera, 2010). According to Jeong *et al.* (2016), irrigation water salinity of less than 0.7 mg/L does not influence crop growth, whereas water with a salinity level of more than 3 mg/L causes significant damage. This suggests that the saline state of the filtered water makes it suitable for crop production.

4.3.2 Chemical Properties of Wastewater Sludge Before and After Filtration

The chemical parameters that were considered are Dissolved Oxygen (DO), Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD and Biological Oxygen Demand (BOD), and the results for these parameters are presented in Figure 4.5. The mean values recorded for the dissolved oxygen (DO) levels in the wastewater sludge before and after filtration were 1.85 mg/L and 102.67 mg/L respectively. The dissolved oxygen value increased after filtration because when DO is high, it means there is less organic pollutants in the filtered water because oxygen was much depleted due to the presence of some certain chemicals or organic compounds found in the media that have used up the oxygen in the filtered water and in the unfiltered water DO was low and this could be as a result of high amount of organic pollutants in the water because oxygen was not soo much depleted and this could also be enhance by the pH of the water, and this represents a filter DO improvement efficiency of 98.2 %. A similar increment was recorded in a study by Bali *et al.* (2011) who had a

97 % improvement in the DO of wastewater after it was filtered with sand filters. The removal efficiency of a filter, for a given parameter, may vary depending on the effluent to be filtered. Mensah (2017) recorded over 200 % efficiency of his bio-sand filter-designed septic effluent. The dissolved oxygen levels may not be considered an important parameter when it comes to irrigated agriculture, although it is an indispensable parameter when it comes to aquaculture, and environmental protection. The concentration of dissolved oxygen present in wastewater determines its quality and can support life on farms or aquatic life (Kalbar *et al.*, 2013). What could account for the increase in dissolved oxygen may be wastewater exposed to the open environment after filtration where the bad odour has been taken from the filtered wastewater.

The average levels of Chemical Oxygen Demand of wastewater sludge recorded were 16 mg/L before filtration and 32.33 mg/L after the wastewater sludge has gone through the filtration process, the increase in the chemical oxygen demand maybe as a result of the presence of chemicals/pollutants in the filtered water hence more oxygen is needed to to burn those chemical compounds in the filtered water. Also the pH could be a factor for the high levels of COD in the filtered water, in the study it was observed that before the filtration, the wastewater was close to be acidic with pH value of 6.2 while after filtration the pH improves to 6.6 which is close to neutral and this could be the influence of pH on the filtered water sludge were within the acceptable limits of EPA 2008 standard guidelines for wastewater as presented in Table 4.1. In essence, the designed filter has a COD improvement efficiency of 54.19 %. Bali *et al.* (2011) obtained a better filter removal efficiency of 81 % for the parameter COD, and 82.8 % efficiency was obtained in Adu-Ofori (2019) study. The mean value for the Biological Oxygen Demand recorded was 0.95

mg/L before the wastewater sludge was filtered and the filtered wastewater sludge recorded 6.74 mg/L. The increased in BOD may indicate more oxygen is required to break down organic pollutants in the filtered water which also signifies lower water quality . The improvement in the BOD after filtration connotes a filter efficiency percentage of 85.91 %. A similar result was obtained by Manga *et al.* (2016) and Adu-Ofori (2017) who had removal efficiency rates of 85.6 % and 86.8 % respectively. The BOD level in the filtered wastewater sludge was employed as a gauge for estimating the amount of organic matter present, while the COD level shows the total oxygen requirement for digesting/decomposing both organic matter and inorganic matter in the filtered wastewater sludge. According to Kalbar *et al.* (2013), with the decomposition of greater COD and BOD levels, dissolved oxygen levels are depleted, resulting in anaerobic conditions and more contaminated wastewater sludge.



Figure 4.5: Averages of Chemical Properties of Wastewater Sludge Before and After Filtration

4.3.3 Nutrient Concentrations Levels in Wastewater Sludge Before and After Filtration

Apart from Nitrate-Nitrogen, all the mean values of the nutrients; ammonium nitrogen, phosphorus phosphate, and potassium after filtration increased and this could be as a result of material used for the filtration process may contain minute of this nutrients in them which accounted for the increased levels of nutrients in the filtered water as presented in Figure 4.6. For Nitrate Nitrogen (NO_3-N) , the wastewater sludge before filtration was 8.19 mg/L and after the filtration process, the mean value was 1.03 mg/L, indicating a percentage removal of 87.42 %. Contrary to Bali et al.'s (2011) study, which recorded an increase of 91.91 % in NO₃-N after filtration. The decrease in nitrate concentration might be related to the non-transformation of organic nitrogen to nitrate form during the treatment process via oxidation reactions. Ammonium Nitrate (NH₄-N) mg/L average values before wastewater sludge was filtered were 0.74 mg/L and 1.43 after filtration, representing an increment of 48.39 %. This was contrary to what was recorded by Bali et al. (2011) who recorded a percent removal of 86.49 %. Phosphate Phosphorus (PO₄ –N) mg/L mean values determined in the wastewater sludge before filtration was 0.02 mg/L and 0.10 mg/L after the filtration process. PO₄-N level increased by 77 % after filtration whilst it decreased by 64.61 % in a study by Bali et al. (2011). In a study by Adu-Ofori (2019), he also recorded a removal efficiency of 58.7 %. Instead of removing excess nutrients in the sludge after filtration, the system rather increased the level of nutrients in the sludge after filtration. Thus, the mean value of potassium in wastewater sludge before and after filtration was 0.40 mg/L and 0.47 mg/L respectively. Both the unfiltered and filtered wastewater sludge were presented in Figure 4.3 and the results are within the acceptable limits of FAO, 2015 standard guidelines.

According to Kumar *et al.* (2015), nitrogen and phosphorus are necessary for plant growth, although other elements such as iron are required in trace amounts for biological growth. It has

been discovered that wastewater contains a range of nutrients required for agriculture production (Chiu *et al.*, 2015). Even though nutrient content in wastewater plays a crucial role in plant growth, it might have negative consequences if it exceeds the recommended amounts (Erel *et al.*, 2019). Excessive nitrogen levels in wastewater can induce over-fertilization, resulting in high vegetative growth, crop maturity delays or unevenness, and poor quality. According to An *et al.* (2016), wastewater can contain 5 to 50 mg/L of phosphorus. Organic phosphorus is biologically transformed into phosphate during wastewater pre-treatment.



Figure 4.6: Averages of Nutrient Concentrations in Wastewater Sludge Before and After Filtration

4.3.4 Microbial Levels in Wastewater Before and After Filtration

The microbial parameters determined during the laboratory analysis include; Total coliform, Fecal coliform, *E. coli*, and *Salmonella spp*, and the results are presented in Figure 4.7, before the filtration of the wastewater sludge, the value recorded for total coliform was 200 cfu/100ml, and after filtration, the value decreased to 100 cfu/100ml, which falls in the acceptable range of FAO,

2015 standard guideline limits of 0-400 cfu/100ml for irrigation purposes. The mean value recorded for faecal coliform for wastewater sludge before filtration was 60 cfu/100ml, which decreased to 8 cfu/100ml after filtration. *E. coli* also recorded an average value of 25 cfu/100ml before filtration, and it decreased to 4 cfu/100ml after filtration. The value of *Salmonella* for both unfiltered and filtered wastewater sludge was zero (0).

The value of total coliform recorded by Kwabla (2017) was $\leq 37.4 \times 10^3$ cfu/100 ml, and this is higher than what was recorded in this study before and after filtration; 200 cfu/100 ml and 100 cfu/100 ml respectively. Also, according to Adu-Ofori (2019), the recorded value was 14x10⁷ to 53×10^7 counts/100 ml with an average count of 296 X 10^6 counts/100 ml which is higher than that of this study before and after filtration. Concerning the contaminant removal efficiency of the system, the designed roughing filter had a total coliform removal efficiency of 50 % system which is far lower than what was recorded by Adu-Ofori (2019) and Mensah (2017); 99.93 % and 99.99 % respectively. Ostad-Ali-Askari et al. (2019) also found a drastic decrease in total coliform when they employed a sand filter for water filtration. Close to the rate of total coliform removal in the filtered sludge is the value found by Bali et al. (2011). They recorded a 53.29 % reduction in total coliform after filtration. This value agrees with what is recorded in this study (50 %) and further affirms the level of effectiveness of the filter. The fecal coliform value in the sludge from the study site was as high as 60 cfu/100 ml before filtration. However, after filtration, the faecal coliform count was reduced to 8 cfu/100 ml, representing a removal efficiency of 86.67 %. Although Bali et al. (2011) also recorded a 58.95 % decrease in faecal coliform after the wastewater was filtered, it is lower than what was recorded in this study (86.67%) which is also less than what was recorded by Mensah (2017) in his study. Several factors might have accounted for the variation in the rate of faecal coliform removal, although of much essence, is a system's ability to beat down the

coliform count. *E. coli* count has reduced drastically; from 28 to 4 cfu/100 ml, representing 84 % filter removal efficiency. This falls in the range of removal rate of 45-99.99% for slow sand filters, as Chen *et al.* (1998). In the study carried out by Mensah (2017), a similar trend, and an even higher rate of reduction in *E. coli* count was recorded; 97.6 %. The concentration of microbial present in wastewater sludge determines whether the wastewater can be reused for irrigation purposes. Wastewater containing high levels of *E. coli* is likely to have high levels of other dangerous bacteria (Edberg *et al.*, 2000). The value of *E. coli* after filtration in this study is higher than that of Allende *et al.* (2015) who found that the *E. coli* content for vegetables eaten raw and vegetables cooked, processed, or fruits not directly irrigated to have an average value of 1 cfu mL⁻¹ and 1 cfu mL⁻¹ respectively. Impliedly, from the perspective of Allende *et al.* (2015), due to the level of *E. coli* in the filtered water in this study, it does not fit to be used as irrigation water for vegetables. However, the results of *E. coli* level after filtration in this study aligned with the results from Kwabla (2017) who had results of < 10 cfu mL⁻¹.



Figure 5: Levels of Microbial in Wastewater Sludge Before and After Filtration

CHAPTER FIVE

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Conclusions

The study showed that:

- The wastewater sludge was full of contaminants or pollutants which makes it not safe for irrigation since it is not in line with the FAO, 2015/EPA, 2008 Ghana standard guidelines for irrigated agriculture
- 2. The design, construction, operation, and maintenance of the wastewater filtration system work satisfactorily well and are therefore technically viable at the SARI water treatment site and can be adopted in areas that generate wastewater from a similar treatment plant .
- 3. The filter design is robust and simple to operate and the filtration system can be constructed with locally available material (chipping stones, crushed stones, and river sand) with the help of local labor.
- 4. Back-washing of the filter can be done manually and no pumps are needed if there is enough elevation on the land and if the in-flowing wastewater from the source has enough filtration pressure.
- The most porous material among the three (3) filter materials used is the crushed stones had a porosity of 44.7 %. However, river sand was almost non-porous, recording a value of 5.9 %.
- The concentrations of the physical parameter which include turbidity suspended particles and salinity of wastewater sludge were reduced drastically and were within the FAO, 2015/EPA, 2008 Ghana standard guidelines limits for irrigation.

7. The chemical and microbial parameters of the wastewater sludge were also reduced to the acceptable limit of FAO 2015, WHO 2006, and EPA, 2008 Ghana standard guidelines for irrigation after filtration.

5.2 Recommendations

Based on the findings of the study, the following are recommended:

- Filtered and unfiltered wastewater sludge generated at SARI water treatment plants can be used to irrigate various kinds of vegetables to monitor the impact of the filtered and unfiltered wastewater sludge on the growth and yield of these vegetables.
- 2. There is a need to establish infrastructure and rehabilitation of broken structures at already existing plants to accommodate wastewater sludge at water treatment plants across the country to further treat this wastewater for irrigation purposes especially in water-scarce areas to help feed the ever-growing population.
- 3. There is a need for in-depth, application-based research into local, economically viable, environmentally friendly, energy-efficient technologies and applications for wastewater sludge treatment as a safe alternative water supply for competing water needs.

REFERENCES

- Abarca, R. M. (2021). Modeling of an Urban Radiocesium Pathway from Catchment to Wastewater Treatment Sludge o Title No Title. In *Oregon State University Nuclear Science* and Engineering.
- Abalos, D., Sanchez-Martin, L., Garcia-Torres, L., Van Groenigen, J. W., & Vallejo, A. (2014). Management of irrigation frequency and nitrogen fertilization to mitigate GHG and NO emissions from drip-fertigated crops. *Science of the Total Environment*, 490, 880–888.
- Abdulsada, Z., Kibbee, R., Princz, J., & Derosa, M. (2021). Transformation of Silver Nanoparticles (AgNPs) during Lime Treatment of Wastewater Sludge and Their Impact on Soil Bacteria. *Environmental Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*.
- Alemu, A. M. (2017). To what extent does access to improved sanitation explain the observed differences in infant mortality in Africa? *African Journal of Primary Health Care & Family Medicine*, 9(1), 235. <u>https://doi.org/10.4102/phcfm.v9i1.1370.</u>
- American Public Health Association APHA (2012). Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater. 23rd Edition, American Water Works Association, Water Environment Federation.
- Akoto, O., Gyamfi, O., Darko, G., & Barnes, V. R. (2017). Changes in water quality in the Owabi water treatment plant in Ghana. Applied Water Science, 7(1), 175–186. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-014-0232-4
- Allende, A., & Monaghan, J. (2015). Irrigation Water Quality for Leafy Crops: A Perspective of Risks and Potential Solutions. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 12(7), 7457–7477. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120707457
- 8. Alipour, V., Moein, F., & Rezaei, L. (2016). Determining the Salt Tolerance Threshold for

Biological Treatment of Salty Wastewater. *Health Scope*, 6(1), 781–793. https://doi.org/10.17795/jhealthscope-36425.

- Al-Baidhani, J. H., & Khadafy, Z. H. (2016). Treatment of water and wastewater by using roughing filter technology of local materials. *International Journal of Current Engineering Technology*, 6(6), 2192–2198.
- Al Mamun, M. A., Howladar, M. F., & Sohail, M. A. (2019). Assessment of surface water quality using Fuzzy Analytic Hierarchy Process (FAHP): A case study of Piyain River's sand and gravel quarry mining area in Jaflong, Sylhet. *Groundwater for Sustainable Development*, 9, 100208.
- Al-Mafraji, E. A., & Al-Mussawy, H. A. (2021). Using lower and upper baffle arrangements to enhance sedimentation tank performance. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, *1067*(1), 012009. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899x/1067/1/012009.</u>
- Alimohammadi, M., Tackley, H. A., Lake, C. B., Spooner, I., Walker, T. R., Jamieson, R., Gan, C., & Bossy, K. (2020a). Effect of different sediment dewatering techniques on subsequent particle sizes in industrial derived effluent. Canadian Journal of Civil Engineering, 47(10), 1145–1153. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjce-2019-0269.
- 13. Almuktar, S. A. A. N., Abed, S. N., & Scholz, M. (2018). Wetlands for wastewater treatment and subsequent recycling of treated effluent: a review. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iswcr.2016.05.004.</u>
- 14. Abagale, F. K. (2014). Modeling Levels Of Microbial And Chemical Contaminants In Wastewater Used For Peri-Urban Irrigation In The Tamale Metropolis, Ghana. Journal of Environmental Management. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111383.
- 15. Ait-Mouheb, N., Bahri, A., Thayer, B. Ben, Benyahia, B., Bourrié, G., Cherki, B., Condom,

N., Declercq, R., Gunes, A., Héran, M., Kitir, N., Molle, B., Patureau, D., Pollice, A., Rapaport, A., Renault, P., Riahi, K., Romagny, B., Sari, T., ... Harmand, J. (2018). The reuse of reclaimed water for irrigation around the Mediterranean Rim: a step towards a more virtuous cycle? *Regional Environmental Change*, *18*(3), 693–705. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-018-1292-</u><u>Z.</u>

- 16. Amakiri, K. T., Canon, A. R., Molinari, M., & Angelis-Dimakis, A. (2022). Review of oilfieldproduced water treatment technologies. *Chemosphere*, 298(46), 134064. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2022.134064</u>.
- 17. Arora, S., & Kazmi, A. A. (2015). The effect of seasonal temperature on pathogen removal efficacy of term filter for wastewater treatment. Water Research, 74(2), 88–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.02.001.
- Adu-Ofori, E. (2019). Assessment of Suitability of Sludge and Wastewater Quality in Waste Stabilisation Pond System in Accra-Ghana for Agriculture Purposes. [Master's Thesis, University of Ghana, Legon]. Available from: https://ugspace.ug.edu.gh/handle/123456789/35908. (Accessed on: 06 July 2022).
- An, C. J., McBean, E., Huang, G. H., Yao, Y., Zhang, P., Chen, X. J., & Li, Y. P. (2016). Multisoil-layering systems for wastewater treatment in small and remote communities. *J. Environ. Inform*, 27(2), 131–144.
- Anjum, M., Miandad, R., Waqas, M., Gehany, F., & Barakat, M. A. (2019). Remediation of wastewater using various nanomaterials. *Arabian Journal of Chemistry*, *12*(8), 4897–4919. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arabjc.2016.10.004.
- Affam, A. C., & Ezechi, E. H. (2020). Application of Graded Limestone as Roughing Filter Media for the Treatment of Leachate. In *Journal of Water and Health* (Vol. 17, Issue 3, pp.

176–219). InTech. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-0369-0.ch009.

- Adel, K., Negm, M., Abdelrazik, M., & Wahb, E. (2014). The Use of Roughing Filters in Water Purification. Scientific Journal of October 6 University, 2(1), 50–58.
 https://doi.org/10.21608/sjou.2014.32690.
- Ahmad, T., Ahmad, K., & Alam, M. (2016). Characterization of Water Treatment Plant's Sludge and its Safe Disposal Options. Procedia Environmental Sciences, 35, 950–955. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proenv.2016.07.088.
- 24. Antar, M., Lyu, D., Nazari, M., Shah, A., Zhou, X., & Smith, D. L. (2021). Biomass for a sustainable bio-economy: An overview of world biomass production and utilization. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 139(374), 110691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020.110691.
- 25. Awuchi, C. G., Twinomuhwezi, H., Awuchi, C. G., Victory, I. S., & Amagwula, I. O. (2020). Industrial Waste Management, Treatment, and Health Issues: Wastewater, Solid, and Electronic Wastes. European Academic Research, 8(2), 1081–1119.
- 26. Ayalath, C. P. G., Miguntanna, N. S., & Perera, H. A. K. C. (2016). Burnt Clay Bricks as an Alternative Filter Media for Pebble Matrix Filters (PMF). Engineer: Journal of the Institution of Engineers, Sri Lanka, 49(3), 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.4038/engineer.v49i3.7071</u>.
- 27. Agoro, M., Okoh, O., Adefisoye, M., & Okoh, A. (2018). Physicochemical Properties of Wastewater in Three Typical South African Sewage Works. Polish Journal of Environmental Studies, 27(2), 491–499. <u>https://doi.org/10.15244/pjoes/74156</u>.
- 28. Alvarenga, P., Mourinha, C., Farto, M., Santos, T., Palma, P., Sengo, J., Morais, M.-C., & Cunha-Queda, C. (2015). Sewage sludge, compost and other representative organic wastes as

agricultural soil amendments: Benefits versus limiting factors. Waste Management, 40(4), 44–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2015.01.027</u>.

- 29. Andersson, K., Rosemarin, A., Lamizana, B., Kvarnström, E., McConville, J., Seidu, R., & Dickin, S. and T. (2016). Sanitation, Wastewater Management, and Sustainability: from Waste Disposal to Resource Recovery. (C. Trimmer, Ed.). Nairobi and Stockholm.
- 30. Bai, Y., Kissoudis, C., Yan, Z., Visser, R. G. F., & van der Linden, G. (2018). Plant behavior under combined stress: tomato responses to combined salinity and pathogen stress. *The Plant Journal*, 93(4), 781–793. https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.13800.
- Bauer, M., Sanchez, L., & Song, J. (2021). IoT-Enabled Smart Cities: Evolution and Outlook. Sensors, 21(13), 4511. https://doi.org/10.3390/s21134511.
- 32. Bahri, A., Drechsel, P., & Brissaud, F. (2016). Water reuse in Africa: challenges and opportunities. Paper presented at the First African Water Week: Accelerating Water Security for Socio-Economic Development in Africa, Tunis, 26-28 March 2008. International Water Management Institute (IWMI), September. https://ageconsearch.umn.edu/bitstream/245271/2/H041872.pdf%0Apublications.iwmi.org/p_df/H041872.pdf.
- 33. Bardhan, G., Russo, D., Goldstein, D., & Levy, G. J. (2016). Changes in the hydraulic properties of clay soil under long-term irrigation with treated wastewater. Geoderma, 264, 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2015.10.004.</u>
- 34. Birley, M.H. and Kock, K. 1999. A review of health impacts of peri-urban natural resource development. International Centre for Health impact assessment, Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine: draft project, p. 241.
- 35. Becerra-Castro, C., Lopes, A. R., Vaz-Moreira, I., Silva, E. F., Manaia, C. M., & Nunes, O. C.

(2015). Wastewater reuse in irrigation: A microbiological perspective on implications in soil fertility and human and environmental health. Environment International, *75*, 117–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2014.11.001.

- 36. Bhargava, D. A. (2016). Physico-chemical Waste Water Treatment Technologies: An Overview. International Journal of Scientific Research And Education, August. <u>https://doi.org/10.18535/ijsre/v4i05.05</u>.
- 37. Bintsis, T. (2018). Lactic acid bacteria as starter cultures: An update in their metabolism and genetics. AIMS Microbiology, 4(4), 665–684. <u>https://doi.org/10.3934/microbiol.2018.4.665</u>.
- 38. Bhattacharjee, C., Saxena, V. K., & Dutta, S. (2020). Static turbulence promoters in cross-flow membrane filtration: a review. Chemical Engineering Communications, 207(3), 413–433. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00986445.2019.1587610</u>.
- Boiler, M. (1993). Filter mechanisms in roughing filters. J Water SRT-Aqua, 42(3), 174–185. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/287547492.
- 40. Bhattacharjee, C., Saxena, V. K., & Dutta, S. (2019). Numerical investigation of piston-modal wave resonance in the narrow gap formed by a box in front of a wall. *Physics of Fluids*, *31*(5), 052105. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5092657.
- Bultman, M. W., Fisher, F. S., & Pappagianis, D. (2013). The Ecology of Soil-Borne Human Pathogens. In Essentials of Medical Geology (Vol. 693, Issue 4, pp. 477–504). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-4375-5_20.
- 42. Bhateria, R., & Jain, D. (2016). Water quality assessment of lake water: a review. Sustainable Water Resources Management, 2(2), 161–173. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40899-015-0014-7.
- 43. Buechler, S., Mekala, G. D., & Keraita, B. (2006). Wastewater is used for urban and peri-urban

agriculture. Cities Farming for the Future: Urban Agriculture for Green and Productive Cities, 2006 (August), 243–273.

- 44. Bali, M., & Gueddari, M. (2011). Simulation of oxidation processes and biomass growth in the intermittent sand filter. Journal of Water Reuse and Desalination, 1(2), 122–130. https://doi.org/10.2166/wrd.2011.031.
- 45. Campos, C. J. A., Avant, J., Lowther, J., Till, D., & Lees, D. N. (2016). Human norovirus in untreated sewage and effluents from primary, secondary, and tertiary treatment processes. Water Research, 103(16), 224–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.07.045
- Chanaka Udayanga, W. D., Veksha, A., Giannis, A., Lisak, G., Chang, V. W. C., & Lim, T. T. (2018). Fate and distribution of heavy metals during thermal processing of sewage sludge. *Fuel*, 226(March), 721–744. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2018.04.045.</u>
- 47. Cornish, G. and Lawrence, P. 2001. Informal Irrigation in peri-urban areas: A summary of findings and recommendations. Report OD/TN 144, Nov. 2001, HR Wallingford Ltd, Wallingford, UK. In: Jiménez, B. Drechsel, P. Koné, D. and Bahri, A. Raschid-Sally, L., and Qadir, M., 2010. Wastewater, Sludge and Excreta Use in Developing Countries: An Overview. In: Drechsel, P. Scott, C.A. Rashid-Sally, L. Redwood, M. and Bahri, A. (eds). Wastewater Irrigation and Health. Assessing and Mitigating Risk in Low-Income Countries. Published by Earthscan with IDRC and IWM.
- 48. Chitonge, H., Mokoena, A., & Kongo, M. (2020). Water and Sanitation Inequality in Africa: Challenges for SDG 6. In Water Management (Issue October 2015, pp. 207–218). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-14857-7_20</u>.
- 49. Chahal, C., Van Den Akker, B., Young, F., Franco, C., Blackbeard, J., & Monis, P. (2016). Pathogen and particle associations in wastewater: significance and implications for treatment

and disinfection processes. Advances in Applied Microbiology, 97, 63–119.

- 50. Chaukura, N., Chiworeso, R., Gwenzi, W., Motsa, M. M., Munzeiwa, W., Moyo, W., Chikurunhe, I., & Nkambule, T. T. I. (2020). A new generation low-cost biochar-clay composite 'biscuit' ceramic filter for point-of-use water treatment. *Applied Clay Science*, 185, 105409. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clay.2019.105409.</u>
- 51. Chen, K. H., Wang, H. C., Han, J. L., Liu, W. Z., Cheng, H. Y., Liang, B., & Wang, A. J. (2020). The application of footprints for assessing the sustainability of wastewater treatment plants: A review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 277, 124053. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.124053.
- 52. Chen, J., Truesdail, S., Lu, F., Zhan, G., Belvin, C., Koopman, B., Farrah, S., & Shah, D. (1998). Long-term evaluation of aluminum hydroxide-coated sand for removal of bacteria from wastewater. Water Research, 32(7), 2171–2179.
- 53. Cheng, W., Liu, C., Tong, T., Epsztein, R., Sun, M., Verduzco, R., Ma, J., & Elimelech, M. (2018). Selective removal of divalent cations by polyelectrolyte multilayer nanofiltration membrane: Role of polyelectrolyte charge, ion size, and ionic strength. *Journal of Membrane Science*, 559(2), 98–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2018.04.052
- 54. Chiu, S.-Y., Kao, C.-Y., Chen, T.-Y., Chang, Y.-B., Kuo, C.-M., & Lin, C.-S. (2015). Cultivation of microalgal Chlorella for biomass and lipid production using wastewater as a nutrient resource. *Bioresource Technology*, 184, 179–189.
- 55. Cescon, A., & Jiang, J.-Q. (2020). Filtration Process and Alternative Filter Media Material in Water Treatment. Water, 12(12), 3377. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/w12123377</u>
- 56. Cisneros, B. J. (2021). Data sharing in transboundary waters: current extent, future potential, and practical recommendations. In *Treatise on Water Science* (Vol. 382, Issue 9888). Elsevier.

https://doi.org/10.5337/2021.232.

- 57. Connor, R., Renata, A., Ortigara, C., Koncagül, E., Uhlenbrook, S., Lamizana-Diallo, B. M., ..., & Hendry, S. (2017). Wastewater The Untapped Resource.
- 58. Corwin, D. L., & Yemoto, K. (2020). Salinity: Electrical conductivity and total dissolved solids. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 84(5), 1442–1461. https://doi.org/10.1002/saj2.20154.
- Demirbas, A., Edris, G., & Alalayah, W. M. (2017). Sludge production from municipal wastewater treatment in the sewage treatment plant. *Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects, 39*(10), 999–1006. https://doi.org/10.1080/15567036.2017.1283551.
- 60. Dickhout, J. M., Moreno, J., Biesheuvel, P. M., Boels, L., Lammertink, R. G. H., & de Vos, W. M. (2017). Produced water treatment by membranes: A review from a colloidal perspective. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 487(2), 523–534. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2016.10.013.</u>
- Ding, G. K. C. (2017). Wastewater Treatment and Reuse-The Future Source of Water Supply. *Encyclopedia of Sustainable Technologies*, 43–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-</u> 409548-9.10170-8.
- 62. Drechsel, P., Mara, D. D., Bartone, C., & Scheierling, S. M. (2010). Improving wastewater use in agriculture: an emerging priority. In *World Health Organization*. The World Bank. <u>https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-5412</u>.
- 63. Doherty, S., Knight, J. G., Carroll, M. A., Ellison, J. R., Hobson, S. J., Stevens, S., Hardacre, C., & Goodrich, P. (2015). Efficient and selective hydrogen peroxide-mediated oxidation of sulfides in batch and segmented and continuous flow using a polyoxometalate-based polymer

immobilized ionic liquid phase catalyst. Green Chemistry, 17(3), 1559–1571. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4GC01770F SH01c7f6859e0e6eb1ba4262b4.7.3.3>=1.

- Daigger, G. T., & Boltz, J. P. (2011). Trickling Filter and Trickling Filter-Suspended Growth Process Design and Operation: A State-of-the-Art Review. Water Environment Research, 83(5), 388–404. <u>https://doi.org/10.2175/106143010X12681059117210</u>.
- 65. Daee, M., Gholipour, A., & Stefanakis, A. I. (2019). Performance of pilot Horizontal Roughing Filter as the polishing stage of waste stabilization ponds in developing regions and modeling verification. Ecological Engineering, 138, 8–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2019.07.007.
- 66. Eckhoff, R. K. (2016). Water vapor explosions A brief review. Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries, 40(1), 188–198. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7853-8_22.
- 67. Ebo Yahans Amuah, E., Amanin-Ennin, P., & Antwi, K. (2022). Irrigation water quality in Ghana and associated implications on vegetables and public health. A systematic review. *Journal of Hydrology*, 604(August), 127211. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2021.127211</u>.
- 68. Elbaz, A. A., Aboulfotoh, A., ElGohary, E. H., & Reham, M. T. (2020). Review classification of sludge drying beds SDB (conventional sand drying beds CSDB, wedge-wire, solar, and vacuum-assisted and paved drying beds PDB). J. Mater. Environ. Sci, 11, 593-608.
- 69. Englande, A. J., Krenkel, P., & Shamas, J. (2015). Wastewater Treatment & amp; Water Reclamation☆. In H. A. Aziz (Ed.), *Reference Module in Earth Systems and Environmental Sciences* (Vol. 12, Issue 8, pp. 1–23). Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-409548-9.09508-7.</u>
- 70. Edberg, S., Rice, E., Karlin, R., & Allen, M. (2000). Escherichia coli: the best biological

drinking water indicator for public health protection. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 106S-116S.

- 71. Erel, R., Eppel, A., Yermiyahu, U., Ben-Gal, A., Levy, G., Zipori, I., Schaumann, G. E., Mayer, O., & Dag, A. (2019). Long-term irrigation with reclaimed wastewater: Implications on nutrient management, soil chemistry, and olive (Olea europaea L.) performance. *Agricultural Water Management*, 213, 324–335.
- 72. Edokpayi, J. N., Odiyo, J. O., & Durowoju, O. S. (2017). Impact of Wastewater on Surface Water Quality in Developing Countries: A Case Study of South Africa. *Water Quality*. <u>https://doi.org/10.5772/66561</u>.
- 73. Elgallal, M., Fletcher, L., & Evans, B. (2016). Assessment of potential risks associated with chemicals in wastewater used for irrigation in arid and semiarid zones: A review.
 Agricultural Water Management, 177(1), 419–431.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2016.08.027.

- 74. Eggen, R. I. L., Hollender, J., Joss, A., Schärer, M., & Stamm, C. (2014). Reducing the discharge of micropollutants in the aquatic environment: The benefits of upgrading wastewater treatment plants. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 48(14), 7683–7689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/es500907n</u>.
- 75. Eugene A. E, Godwin A. D, Naziru Y. A, Ransford K. A. A. (2019). Review Paper Ghana's post-MDGs sanitation situation : an overview. In Journal of Water, Sanitation and Hygiene for Development. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/washdev.2019.031</u>.
- 76. EPA (2008). General Environmental Quality Standards (Ghana), Regulations 2000, pp. 8 –
 13.
- 77. Fahim, R., Lu, X., Jilani, G., Hussain, J., & Hussain, I. (2019). Comparison of floating-bed

wetland and gravel filter amended with limestone and sawdust for sewage treatment. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 26(20), 20400–20410. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-05325-5.</u>

- 78. Falizi, N. J., Hacıfazlıoğlu, M. C., Parlar, İ., Kabay, N., Pek, T. Ö., & Yüksel, M. (2018). Evaluation of treated industrial wastewater quality before and after desalination by NF and RO processes for agricultural reuse. *Journal of Water Process Engineering*, 22(2), 103–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwpe.2018.01.015
- 79. F., & Jackson, T. M. (2012). Wastewater irrigation and environmental health: Implications for water governance and public policy. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 215(3), 255–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2011.10.003
- 80. Fisher, R. M., Alvarez-Gaitan, J. P., & Stuetz, R. M. (2019). Review of the effects of wastewater biosolids stabilization processes on odor emissions. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 49(17), 1515–1586. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2019.1579620
- 81. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nation (2015). The State of Food Insecurity in the World Meeting the 2015 interaction hunger targets: taking stock of uneven progress. *State of Food Insecurity in the World 2015*, 1–8.
- Francisco, D., & Klocker, S. (2017). Impact of Intermediate and End-Products of Anaerobic Digestion on Sludge Filterability. May.
- 83. Gabr, N., Hussien, K., & Abdel-Hamid, I. (2021). a Review of Study on the Removal of Some Biological and Chemicalpollutants From Water/Wastewater Using Different Types of Nanomaterials in Turkmenistan. Zagazig Journal of Agricultural Research, 48(4), 1069–1082. <u>https://doi.org/10.21608/zjar.2021.204546</u>.

- 84. Ghana and associated implications on vegetables and public health. A systematic review. *Journal of Hydrology*, 604(August), 127211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2021.127211
- 85. Gan, C. H., & Shuit, S. H. (2020). Waste-Activated Sludge Treatment Processes. In *Clean Energy and Resource Recovery* (Vol. 39, Issue 10, pp. 241–263). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-0369-0.ch011.
- 86. Garg, N. K. (2009). Multicriteria Assessment of Alternative Sludge Disposal Methods Neeraj
 Kumar Garg. *Environment*, 1–81.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.133608.
- 87. Gunatilake, S. K. (2015). *Methods of Removing Heavy Metals from Industrial Wastewater*. 1(1), 12–18.
- 88. Gurjar, B. R., & Tyagi, V. K. (2017). Sludge Management. In *Ecological Chemistry and Engineering S* (Vol. 27, Issue 1). CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781315375137
- Gupta, G. R. (2012). Tackling pneumonia and diarrhoea: the deadliest diseases for the world's poorest children. *The Lancet*, *379*(9832), 2123–2124. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60907-6.
- 90. Gerba, C. P., & Pepper, I. L. (2019). Municipal Wastewater Treatment. In Environmental and Pollution Science (Vol. 4, Issue 4, pp. 393–418). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-814719-1.00022-7.
- 91. Gao, Y., Shao, G., Wu, S., Xiaojun, W., Lu, J., & Cui, J. (2021). Changes in soil salinity under-treated wastewater irrigation: A meta-analysis. Agricultural Water Management, 255, 106986. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2021.106986.
- 92. Hanjra, M. A., Blackwell, J., Carr, G., Zhang, F., & Jackson, T. M. (2012). Wastewater irrigation and environmental health: Implications for water governance and public policy.

International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, 215(3), 255–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2011.10.003.

- 93. Hashimoto, Y., Takashima, H., & Jayamohan, S. (2019). Application of roughing filter to pretreat 1,000 NTU raw water for the slow sand filter. *Water Practice and Technology*, 14(2), 355–364. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wpt.2019.021</u>.
- 94. Hassan Omer, N. (2020). Water Quality Parameters. In Water Quality Science, Assessments and Policy (Vol. 84, Issue 5, pp. 1442–1461). IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.89657
- 95. Hanson, A., DeMouche, L., Lesikar, B., & Dreager, A. (2013). Onsite Wastewater Management: A Manual for Tribes. *College of Agriculture, Consumer and Environmental Science*.
- 96. Hayder, G., Beyene, H. D., Hailegebrial, T. D., Dirersa, W. B., Dehghani, M., Alizadeh, M. H., Salemi, L. F., Groppo, J. D., Trevisan, R., Seghesi, G. B., Moraes, J. M. De, Fronsini, S., Ferraz, D. B., Martinelli, L. A., Ugwu, S. N., Umuokoro, A. F., Echiegu, E. A., Ugwuishiwu, B. O., & Enweremadu, C. C. (2017). Consequências hidrológicas da mudança de uso da terra de floresta para pastagem na região da tropical pluvial Atlântica Tel .: floresta Hydrological consequences of land-use change from forest to pasture in the Atlantic rain forest region. *Journal of Applied Chemistry*, 2016(April), 8–9. http://doi.org/10.1080/23311916.2017.1365676%0Ahttp://dx.doi.org/10.15171/EHEM.2016. 24%0Afile:///C:/Users/Asus/Downloads/1.pdf.
- 97. Hyderabad. (2002). The Hyderabad Declaration on Wastewater Use in Agriculture 14. *Water Management, November*. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/00020184.2020.1793662.
- 98. Hayder, G., Beyene, H. D., Hailegebrial, T. D., Dirersa, W. B., Dehghani, M., Alizadeh, M.

H., Salemi, L. F., Groppo, J. D., Trevisan, R., Seghesi, G. B., Moraes, J. M. De, Fronsini, S.,Ferraz, D. B., Martinelli, L. A., Ugwu, S. N., Umuokoro, A. F., Echiegu, E. A., Ugwuishiwu,B. O., & Enweremadu, C. C. (2017).

- 99. Hatt, B. E., Deletic, A., & Fletcher, T. D. (2006). Integrated treatment and recycling of stormwater: a review of Australian practice. Journal of Environmental Management, 79(1), 102–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2005.06.003.
- 100. Ingle, K. N., Fenta, M. C., Harada, K., Ingle, A. S., & Ueda, A. (2022). Wastewater Treatment Plants Advantage to Combat Climate Change and Help Sustainable Water Management. In *Sustainability* (Vol. 9, Issue 10, pp. 73–90). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-6573-8_3.
- 101. Ilyas, M., Ahmad, W., Khan, H., Yousaf, S., Yasir, M., & Khan, A. (2019). Environmental and health impacts of industrial wastewater effluents in Pakistan: a review. *Reviews on Environmental Health*, 34(2), 171–186. https://doi.org/10.1515/reveh-2018-0078.
- 102. Jafarinejad, S. (2019). Simulation for the Performance and Economic Evaluation of Conventional Activated Sludge Process Replacing by Sequencing Batch Reactor Technology in a Petroleum Refinery Wastewater Treatment Plant. ChemEngineering, 3(2), 45. https://doi.org/10.3390/chemengineering3020045.
- 103. Jaramillo, M., & Restrepo, I. (2017a). Wastewater Reuse in Agriculture: A Review about Its Limitations and Benefits. *Sustainability*, 9(10), 1734. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9101734.
- Jiang, J.Q. (2015). The role of coagulation in water treatment. Current Opinion in Chemical Engineering, 8, 36–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coche.2015.01.008.
- Io5. Jaramillo, M., & Restrepo, I. (2017b). Wastewater Reuse in Agriculture: A Review about Its Limitations and Benefits. *Sustainability*, 9(10), 1734. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9101734

- 106. Jeong, H., Kim, H., & Jang, T. (2016). Irrigation Water Quality Standards for Indirect Wastewater Reuse in Agriculture : A Contribution toward Sustainable Wastewater Reuse in South Korea. https://doi.org/10.3390/w8040169
- 107. Jung, K. W., Hwang, M. J., Park, D. S., & Ahn, K. H. (2016). Comprehensive reuse of drinking water treatment residuals in coagulation and adsorption processes. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 181, 425–434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2016.06.041..
- 108. Jabr, G., Saidan, M., & Al-Hmoud, N. (2019). Phosphorus recovery by struvite formation from al Samra municipal wastewater treatment plant in Jordan. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, 146(April), 315–325. https://doi.org/10.5004/dwt.2019.23608
- 109. Jia, H., Yang, G., Ngo, H.-H., Guo, W., Zhang, H., Gao, F., & Wang, J. (2017). Enhancing simultaneous response and amplification of biosensor in microbial fuel cell-based up-flow anaerobic sludge bed reactor supplemented with zero-valent iron. Chemical Engineering Journal, 327(2), 1117–1127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2017.06.181.
- 110. Jiménez, S., Micó, M. M., Arnaldos, M., Medina, F., & Contreras, S. (2018). State of the art of produced water treatment. Chemosphere, 192(3), 186–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.10.139
- Jabbar, Z. H. (2022). Treatment of Water and Wastewater by Using Roughing Filter Technology of Local Materials (Issue October 2016).
- 112. Jayalath, C. P. G., Miguntanna, N. S., & Perera, H. A. K. C. (2016). Burnt Clay Bricks as an Alternative Filter Media for Pebble Matrix Filters (PMF). Engineer: Journal of the Institution of Engineers, Sri Lanka, 49(3), 1. https://doi.org/10.4038/engineer.v49i3.7071.
- 113. Kalbar, P. P., Karmakar, S., & Asolekar, S. R. (2013). The influence of expert opinions on the selection of wastewater treatment alternatives: A group decision-making approach. *Journal*

- of
 Environmental
 Management,
 128(10550567),
 844–851.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.06.034.
- 114. Kamizoulis, G. (2008). Setting health-based targets for water reuse (in agriculture). Desalination, 218(1–3), 154–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2006.08.026.
- 115. Kolb, M., Bahadir, M., & Teichgräber, B. (2017). Determination of chemical oxygen demand (COD) using an alternative wet chemical method free of mercury and dichromate. Water Research, 122(3), 645–654. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.06.034.
- 116. Kahle, E.-M., Zarnkow, M., & Jacob, F. (2021). Beer Turbidity Part 1: A Review of Factors and Solutions. *Journal of the American Society of Brewing Chemists*, 79(2), 99–114. https://doi.org/10.1080/03610470.2020.1803468.
- 117. Karki, B. K., & Amatya, I. M. (2020). A Comparative Study of Water Turbidity Removal Efficiency of Anthracite and Gravel in Roughing Filter. *Journal of Innovations in Engineering Education*, 3(1), 42–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.3126/jiee.v3i1.34323</u>.
- 118. Karkee, B., & Man, I. (2019). A Comparative Study of Anthracite and Gravel as Media in Up-flow Roughing Filter (URF) for Turbidity Removal. *Proceedings of IOE Graduate Conference*, 247–252.
- 119. Khan, Z., & Farooqi, R. (2011). Roughing filtration as an effective pre-treatment system for high turbidity water. *Water Science and Technology*, 64(7), 1419–1427. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2011.317</u>.
- 120. Kihila, J., Mtei, K. M., & Njau, K. N. (2014). Wastewater treatment for reuse in urban agriculture; the case of Moshi Municipality, Tanzania. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C, 72–75(3), 104–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pce.2014.10.004.
- 121. Kim Andersson, Arno Rosemarin, Birguy Lamizana, E., Kvarnström, Jennifer McConville, Razak Seidu, S. D. and, & Trimmer, C. (2016). *Sanitation, Wastewater Management U Ne P*
and Sustainability. https://doi.org/https//doi.org/10.1007/s13398-014-0173-7.2

- 122. Kiky, A. (2018). Optimization of Slow Sand Filtration Design by Understanding the Influence of Operating Variables on the Suspended Solids Removal. *Japanese Journal of Water Treatment Biology*, 44(1), 55. <u>https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/197495993.pdf</u>.
- 123. Kumar, S., Malav, L. C., Malav, M. K., & Khan, S. A. (2015). Biogas slurry: source of nutrients for eco-friendly agriculture. International Journal of Extensive Research, 2(2), 42– 46.Kwabla, T. A. (2017). Assessing Willingness To Reuse Treated Wastewater For Crops Irrigation, And The Consumption Of Crops With Treated Wastewater: A Case Study Of Students From University Of Ghana And Ashiaman Municipality, Ghana (Issue 10550567) [University of Ghana]. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2019.103326.005</u>
- 124. Kwenti, T. E. (2017). Biological Control of Parasites. In Natural Remedies in the Fight Against Parasites (Vol. 490, pp. 880–888). InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/68012
- 125. Kjelland, M. E., Woodley, C. M., Swannack, T. M., & Smith, D. L. (2015). A review of the potential effects of suspended sediment on fishes: potential dredging-related physiological, behavioral, and transgenerational implications. *Environment Systems and Decisions*, 35(3), 334–350.
- 126. Kiziloglu, F. M., Turan, M., Sahin, U., Kuslu, Y., & Dursun, A. (2008). Effects of untreated and treated wastewater irrigation on some chemical properties of cauliflower (Brassica olerecea L. var. botrytis) and red cabbage (Brassica olerecea L. var. Rubra) grown on calcareous soil in Turkey. *Agricultural Water Management*, 95(6), 716–724. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2008.01.008
- 127. Kreijen, K. (2020). Modular irrigation filter.
- 128. Lee, L. H., Wu, T. Y., Shak, K. P. Y., Lim, S. L., Ng, K. Y., Nguyen, M. N., & Teoh, W.

www.udsspace.uds.edu.gh

H. (2018). A sustainable approach to biotransform industrial sludge into organic fertilizer via vermicomposting: a mini-review. *Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology*, *93*(4), 925–935. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.5490

- 129. Lindberg, E., & Rost, A. (2018). Treatment of faecal sludge from pit latrines and septic tanks using lime and urea. 1–48. <u>https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1242729/FULLTEXT01.pdf</u>
- Liu, L., Oza, S., Hogan, D., Chu, Y., Perin, J., Zhu, J., Lawn, J. E., Cousens, S., Mathers, C., & Black, R. E. (2016). Global, regional, and national causes of under-5 mortality in 2000–15: an updated systematic analysis with implications for the Sustainable Development Goals. *The Lancet*, 388(10063), 3027–3035. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736 (16)31593-8.
- Liu, L., Fu, Y., Wei, Q., Liu, Q., Wu, L., Wu, J., & Huo, W. (2019). Applying Bio-Slow Sand Filtration for Water Treatment. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies*, 28(4), 2243– 2251. https://doi.org/10.15244/pjoes/89544
- 132. Li, Y. K., Liu, Y. Z., Li, G. B., Xu, T. W., Liu, H. S., Ren, S. M., Yan, D. Z., & Yang, P. L. (2012). Surface topographic characteristics of suspended particulates in reclaimed wastewater and effects on clogging in labyrinth drip irrigation emitters. *Irrigation Science*, 30(1), 43–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00271-010-0257-x
- 133. Lüthi, C., Panesar, A., Schütze, T., Norström, A., Mcconville, J., Parkinson, J., Saywell, D., & Ingle, R. (2011). *Sustainable Sanitation in Cities: A Framework for Action*.
- 134. Li, D., & Liu, S. (2019). Water Quality Monitoring in Aquaculture. In *Water Quality Monitoring and Management* (Vol. 12, Issue 7, pp. 303–328). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-811330-1.00012-0.
- 135. Lin, C.-C., & Hong, P. K. A. (2013). A new processing scheme from algae suspension to

www.udsspace.uds.edu.gh

collected lipid using sand filtration and ozonation. *Algal Research*, 2(4), 378–384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2013.06.001.

- 136. Ma, J., Wang, R., Wang, X., Zhang, H., Zhu, B., Lian, L., & Lou, D. (2019). Drinking water treatment by stepwise flocculation using polysilicate aluminum magnesium and cationic polyacrylamide. *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering*, 7(3), 103049. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2019.103049.
- 137. Mahesh, J., Amerasinghe, P., & Pavelic, P. (2015). An integrated approach to assess the dynamics of a peri-urban watershed influenced by wastewater irrigation. *Journal of Hydrology*, 523(August), 427–440. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2015.02.001.</u>
- 138. Maciel, P. M. F., & Sabogal-Paz, L. P. (2020). Household slow sand filters with and without water level control: continuous and intermittent flow efficiencies. *Environmental Technology*, 41(8), 944–958. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2018.1515988</u>.
- 139. Mwabi, J. K., Mamba, B. B., & Momba, M. N. B. (2012). Removal of Escherichia coli and Faecal Coliforms from Surface Water and Groundwater by Household Water Treatment Devices/Systems: A Sustainable Solution for Improving Water Quality in Rural Communities of the Southern African Development Community Region. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 9(1), 139–170. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph9010139.
- 140. Manga, M., Evans, B. E., Camargo-Valero, M. A., & Horan, N. J. (2016). Effect of filter media thickness on the performance of sand drying beds used for faecal sludge management. Water Science and Technology, 74(12), 2795–2806. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2016.451.
- 141. Maheshwari, K., & Agrawal, M. (2020). Advances in capacitive deionization as an effective technique for reverse osmosis reject stream treatment. *Journal of Environmental*

Chemical Engineering, 8(6), 104413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2020.104413.

- Mao, N. (2016). Nonwoven fabric filters. In *Advances in Technical Nonwovens* (pp. 273–310). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100575-0.00010-3.
- Mensah, I. T. (2017). Biosand Filtration as a Green Approach to Septic Tank Effluent Management in Accra Technical University (Issue 10598305). [Master's Thesis, University of Ghana, Legon]. Available from: https://ugspace.ug.edu.gh/handle/123456789/35908. (Accessed on: 26 July 2022).
- 144. Maryam, B., & Büyükgüngör, H. (2019a). Wastewater reclamation and reuse trends in Turkey: Opportunities and challenges. *Journal of Water Process Engineering*, *30*(October), 0– 1. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-2629-3.
- Meena, M. D., Yadav, R. K., Narjary, B., Yadav, G., Jat, H. S., Sheoran, P., Meena, M. K., Antil, R. S., Meena, B. L., Singh, H. V., Singh Meena, V., Rai, P. K., Ghosh, A., & Moharana, P. C. (2019). Municipal solid waste (MSW): Strategies to improve salt affected soil sustainability: A review. *Waste Management*, 84, 38–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2018.11.020.
- 146. Mabhaudhi, T., Chibarabada, T., & Modi, A. (2016). Water-Food-Nutrition-Health Nexus: Linking Water to Improving Food, Nutrition and Health in Sub-Saharan Africa. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 13(1), 107. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13010107.
- 147. Mohammadi, G., Rafiee, G., Tavabe, K. R., Abdel-Latif, H. M. R., & Dawood, M. A. O. (2021). The enrichment of a diet with beneficial bacteria (single- or multi-strain) in the biofloc system enhanced the water quality, growth performance, immune responses, and

www.udsspace.uds.edu.gh

disease resistance of Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus). Aquaculture, 539, 736640. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2021.736640.

- 148. Mendes D. M., Paglietti L., Jackson D., & A. A. G. (2014). Ghana: Irrigation market brief. FAO Investment Centre, Rome. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2017.08.010.
- 149. Millar, G. J., Couperthwaite, S. J., & Moodliar, C. D. (2016). Strategies for the management and treatment of coal seam gas-associated water. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 57(6), 669–691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.12.087.
- Millot, Y., Troesch, S., Esser, D., Molle, P., Morvannou, A., Gourdon, R., & Rousseau, D.
 P. L. (2016). Effects of design and operational parameters on ammonium removal by single-stage French vertical flow filters treating raw domestic wastewater. *Ecological Engineering*, *97*(3), 516–523. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2016.10.002.
- 151. Moreno-Jiménez, E., Fernández, J. M., Puschenreiter, M., Williams, P. N., & Plaza, C. (2016). Availability and transfer to the grain of As, Cd, Cu, Ni, Pb and Zn in a barley agrisystem: Impact of biochar, organic and mineral fertilizers. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 219, 171–178.
- 152. Mugagga, F., & Nabaasa, B. B. (2016). International Soil and Water Conservation Research The centrality of water resources to the realization of Sustainable Development Goals (SDG). A review of potentials and constraints on the African continent. *International Soil* and Water Conservation Research, 1–9. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/w8040169.
- 153. Muhammad Arshad, A. S. (2011). Irrigation water quality assessments. Agricultural Salinity Assessment and Management: Second Edition, 343–370. https://doi.org/10.1061/9780784411698.ch11.
- 154. MoFA (2000). Food and Agriculture sector development policy (FASDEF I).

- 155. Nabizadeh, R., Naddafi, K., Khazaei, M., Fard, R. F., Izanloo, H., & Yavari, Z. (2015). Upgrading the effluent quality of an aerated lagoon with horizontal roughing filtration. *Environment Protection Engineering*, 41(3), 121–136. https://doi.org/10.5277/epel50309
- 156. Naidoo, S., & Olaniran, A. (2013). Treated Wastewater Effluent as a Source of Microbial Pollution of Surface Water Resources. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 11(1), 249–270. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph110100249.
- 157. Ngo, H. H., Guo, W., Tram Vo, T. P., Nghiem, L. D., & Hai, F. I. (2017). Aerobic Treatment of Effluents From the Aquaculture Industry. In *Current Developments in Biotechnology and Bioengineering* (pp. 35–77). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.48421/IMIST.PRSM/ewash-ti-v4i3.21432.
- 158. Nkwonta, O., & Ochieng, G. (2009). Roughing filter for water pre-treatment technology in developing countries: A review. *International Journal of Physical Sciences*, *4*(9), 455–463.
- Nyiyongu Alfred, O., Ndububa O. (2019). Assessment of Wastewater Quality from Superior Industries Limited, Bauchi, Nigeria. Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences, 14(6), 1847–1852. https://doi.org/10.36478/jeasci.2019.1847.1852.
- 160. N'tchougan-Sonou, C. H. (2001). Automatic promotion or large-scale repetition which path to quality? International Journal of Educational Development, 21(2), 149–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0738-0593(00)00016-X.
- 161. Nkwonta, O. I., Olufayo, O. A., Ochieng, G. M., Adeyemo, J. A., & Otieno, F. A. O. (2010). Turbidity removal: Gravel and charcoal as roughing filtration media. *South African Journal of Science*, *106*(11/12), 163. <u>https://doi.org/10.4102/sajs.v106i11/12.196</u>.
- 162. Ondrasek, G. (2014). Water Scarcity and Water Stress in Agriculture. In *Physiological Mechanisms and Adaptation Strategies in Plants Under Changing Environment* (Vol. 48, Issue

14, pp. 75–96). Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-8591-9_4

- 163. Osunmakinde, C. O., Selvarajan, R., Mamba, B. B., & Msagati, T. A. M. (2019). Profiling bacterial diversity and potential pathogens in wastewater treatment plants using highthroughput sequencing analysis. *Microorganisms*, 7(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms7110506.
- 164. Oyanedel-Craver, V. A., & Smith, J. A. (2008). Sustainable Colloidal-Silver-Impregnated Ceramic Filter for Point-of-Use Water Treatment. Environmental Science & Technology, 42(3), 927–933. https://doi.org/10.1021/es071268u.
- 165. Ostad-Ali-Askari, K., Eslamian, S., Singh, V., Dalezios, N. R., Ghane, M., Gholami, H., Dehghan, S., & Haeri-Hamedani, M. (2019). Decreasing the Number of Coliforms of Wastewater Treatment Plants using Sand Filtration Together with Four-Seed Powder International Journal of Research Studies in Agricultural Sciences, 5(3). https://doi.org/10.20431/2454-6224.0503005.
- 166. Obuobie, E., Keraita, B., Danso, G., Amoah, P., Cofie, O. O., Raschid-sally, L., & Drechsel, P. (2006). Irrigated Urban Vegetable Production in Ghana Production in Ghana.
- Palansooriya, K. N., Yang, Y., Tsang, Y. F., Sarkar, B., Hou, D., Cao, X., Meers, E., Rinklebe, J., Kim, K.-H., & Ok, Y. S. (2020). Occurrence of contaminants in drinking water sources and the potential of biochar for water quality improvement: A review. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 50(6), 549–611. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2019.1629803.
- 168. Pickett, M. T., Roberson, L. B., Calabria, J. L., Bullard, T. J., Turner, G., & Yeh, D. H. (2020). Regenerative water purification for space applications: Needs, challenges, and technologies towards "closing the loop." *Life Sciences in Space Research*, 24(21), 64–82.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lssr.2019.10.002.

- Puplampu, D. A., & Boafo, Y. A. (2021). Exploring the impacts of urban expansion on green spaces availability and delivery of ecosystem services in the Accra metropolis. *Environmental Challenges*, 5, 100283. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpe.2018.07.003.
- Qadir, M., Wichelns, D., Raschid-Sally, L., McCornick, P. G., Drechsel, P., Bahri, A., & Minhas, P. S. (2010). The challenges of wastewater irrigation in developing countries.
 Agricultural Water Management, 97(4), 561–568.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2008.11.004.
- 171. Qasim, W., Zhan, H., Samarasinghe, S., Adams, S., Amrolia, P., Stafford, S., Butler, K., Rivat, C., Wright, G., Somana, K., Ghorashian, S., Pinner, D., Ahsan, G., Gilmour, K., Lucchini, G., Inglott, S., Mifsud, W., Chiesa, R., Peggs, K. S., ... Veys, P. (2017). Molecular remission of infant B-ALL after infusion of universal TALEN gene-edited CAR T cells. Science Translational Medicine, 9(374), 44–52. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaj2013.
- 172. Rahman, A. H. M. K. (2010). Development of Design Criteria for Multi-Stage Filtration Units for Surface Water Treatment [Bangladesh University of Engineering and Technology]. https://repositorio.flacsoandes.edu.ec/bitstream/10469/2461/4/TFLACSO-2010ZVNBA.pdf.
- 173. Ratna, S., Rastogi, S., & Kumar, R. (2021). Current trends for distillery wastewater management and its emerging applications for a sustainable environment. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 290(1), 112544. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.112544.
- 174. Rühlmann, J., Körschens, M., & Graefe, J. (2006). A new approach to calculate the particle density of soils considering properties of the soil organic matter and the mineral matrix. Geoderma, 130(3–4), 272–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2005.01.024

- 175. Ravina, M., Galletta, S., Dagbetin, A., Kamaleldin, O. A. H., Mng'ombe, M., Mnyenyembe, L., Shanko, A., & Zanetti, M. (2021). Urban wastewater treatment in African countries: Evidence from the hydroaid initiative. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, *13*(22), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/su132212828.
- 176. Reta, D., Iulian, D., Mihaela, C., & Nicoleta, P. A. (2021). Results Regarding The Fertilization Of The Sunflower Crop With An Effluent Obtained By Wastewater Treatment. *Annals of the University of Craiova-Agriculture, Montanology, Cadastre Series*, 50(1), 99– 106.
- 177. Rodriguez, A. Z., Wang, H., Hu, L., Zhang, Y., & Xu, P. (2020). Treatment of Produced Water in the Permian Basin for Hydraulic Fracturing: Comparison of Different Coagulation Processes and Innovative Filter Media. *Water*, *12*(3), 770. https://doi.org/10.3390/w12030770.
- 178. Roy, A., Thakur, B., & Debsarkar, A. (2021). Water Pollution and Treatment Technologies. In *Environmental Management: Issues and Concerns in Developing Countries* (pp. 79–106). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-62529-0_5</u>.
- 179. Rusydi, A. F. (2018). Correlation between conductivity and total dissolved solids in various types of water: A review. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, *118*(1), 0–6. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/118/1/012019.
- Sagoe, G., Danquah, F. S., Amofa-Sarkodie, E. S., Appiah-Effah, E., Ekumah, E., Mensah,
 E. K., & Karikari, K. S. (2019). GIS-aided optimization of faecal sludge management in developing countries: the case of the Greater Accra Metropolitan Area, Ghana. *Heliyon*, 5(9), e02505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e02505.
- 181. Saravanan, A., Kumar, P. S., Karishma, S., Vo, D.-V. N., Jeevanantham, S., Yaashikaa, P.

R., & George, C. S. (2021). A review of the biosynthesis of metal nanoparticles and its environmental applications. Chemosphere, 264(374), 128580.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.128580.

- 182. Semiyaga, S., Okure, M. A. E., Niwagaba, C. B., Nyenje, P. M., & Kansiime, F. (2017). Dewaterability of faecal sludge and its implications on faecal sludge management in urban slums. International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology, 14(1), 151–164. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13762-016-1134-9.
- 183. Sciortino, J. A., & Ravikumar, R. (1999). Water Quality, Standards, and Treatment. In J.A. Sciortino & R. Ravikumar (Eds.), *Fishery harbor manual on the prevention of pollution*.Bay od Bengel Programme.
- 184. Seleiman, M. F., Santanen, A., & Mäkelä, P. S. A. (2020). Recycling sludge on cropland as fertilizer – Advantages and risks. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 155(November 2019), 104647. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2019.104647
- 185. Shakir, E., Zahraw, Z., & Al-Obaidy, A. H. M. J. (2017). Environmental and health risks associated with the reuse of wastewater for irrigation. *Egyptian Journal of Petroleum*, 26(1), 95–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpe.2016.01.003.
- 186. Shrestha, B., Hernandez, R., Fortela, D. L. B., Sharp, W., Chistoserdov, A., Gang, D., Revellame, E., Holmes, W., & Zappi, M. E. (2020). A Review of Pretreatment Methods to Enhance Solids Reduction during Anaerobic Digestion of Municipal Wastewater Sludges and the Resulting Digester Performance: Implications to Future Urban Biorefineries. *Applied Sciences*, 10(24), 9141. https://doi.org/10.3390/app10249141.
- 187. Singh, A. (2021). Soil salinization management for sustainable development: A review.
 Journal of Environmental Management, 277, 111383.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111383.

- Street, J., Bunker, R., Dunagan, C., Loose, X., Schnee, R. W., Stark, M., Sundarnath, K., & Tronstad, D. (2015). Construction and measurements of an improved vacuum-swingadsorption radon-mitigation system. Chemosphere, 192(3), 150004. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4928027.
- 189. SKAT. (1996). Surface Water Treatment by Roughing Filters A design, Construction, and Operation Manual. - Swiss Centre for Development Cooperation in Technology and Management.
- 190. Sixt, G. N., Klerkx, L., & Griffin, T. S. (2018). Transitions in water harvesting practices in Jordan's rainfed agricultural systems: Systemic problems and blocking mechanisms in an emerging technological innovation system. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 84(December 2016), 235–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2017.08.010.
- 191. Solé-Torres, Duran-Ros, Arbat, Pujol, Ramírez de Cartagena, & Puig-Bargués. (2019). Assessment of Field Water Uniformity Distribution in a Microirrigation System using a SCADA System. Water, 11(7), 1346. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/w11071346</u>.
- Strande, L. (2014). Faecal Sludge Management Systems Approach for Implementation and Operation. In *Water Intelligence Online* (Vol. 13). https://doi.org/10.2166/9781780404738.
- 193. Świątczak, P., & Cydzik-Kwiatkowska, A. (2018). Performance and microbial characteristics of biomass in a full-scale aerobic granular sludge wastewater treatment plant. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 25(2), 1655–1669. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-0615-9.
- 194. World Bank. (2010). Improving Wastewater Use in Agriculture : An Emerging Priority.

International Water Management Institute (IWMI), September, 190.

- 195. Tun, U., Onn, H., Aeslina, K., Kadir, A., Tun, U., Onn, H., Sarani, N. A., Tun, U., & Onn,
 H. (2021). *iii Potential Technologies for Wastewater Treatment Series 1 Potential Technology* for Wastewater Treatment EDITORS : SADEQ ABDULLA (Issue October).
- 196. Turner, T., Wheeler, R., Stone, A., & Oliver, I. (2019). Potential Alternative Reuse Pathways for Water Treatment Residuals: Remaining Barriers and Questions—a Review. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 230*(9), 227. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-019-4272-0
- 197. Taziki, M., Ahmadzadeh, H., Murry, M. A., & Lyon, S. R. (2015). Nitrate and nitrite removal from wastewater using algae. *Current Biotechnology*, *4*(4), 426–440.
- 198. Thibault, T., Michell Uribe, D., Mary Rita, R., Sommer Marquez, T., & Estela, A. (2021). Adding value to avocado oil industry wastes: Textile wastewater treatment filters made up of activated carbon. www.yachaytech.edu.ec.
- 199. Teh, C. Y., Budiman, P. M., Shak, K. P. Y., & Wu, T. Y. (2016). Recent Advancement of Coagulation–Flocculation and Its Application in Wastewater Treatment. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research, 55(16), 4363–4389. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.iecr.5b04703.
- 200. Taalab, A. S., Ageeb, G. W., Siam, H. S., & Mahmoud, S. A. (2019). Some Characteristics of Calcareous soils. A review AS Taalab1, GW Ageeb2, Hanan S. Siam1 and Safaa A. Mahmoud1. *Middle East J*, 8(1), 96–105.
- 201. Tiruneh, A. T., & Debessai, T. (2020). Development of low-cost easy-to-clean filtration technology. *Environmental and Water Sciences, Public Health & Territorial Intelligence Env.Wat.*, 4(3), 420–430.
- 202. Tang, A., Bao, J., & Skyllas-Kazacos, M. (2014). Studies on pressure losses and flow rate

www.udsspace.uds.edu.gh

optimization in vanadium redox flow battery. Journal of Power Sources, 248(2), 154–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2013.09.071.

- 203. Uyttendaele, M., Jaykus, L.-A., Amoah, P., Chiodini, A., Cunliffe, D., Jacxsens, L., Holvoet, K., Korsten, L., Lau, M., McClure, P., Medema, G., Sampers, I., & Rao Jasti, P. (2015). Microbial Hazards in Irrigation Water: Standards, Norms, and Testing to Manage Use of Water in Fresh Produce Primary Production. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, *14*(4), 336–356. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12133.
- 204. Ungureanu, N., Vlăduţ, V., & Voicu, G. (2020). Water Scarcity and Wastewater Reuse in Crop Irrigation. Sustainability, 12(21), 9055. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12219055.
- 205. UNICEF (2016). Assessment of wastewater Treatment Plants in Ghana.
- 206. Victor, R., Kotter, R., O'Brien, G., Mitropoulos, M., & Panayi, G. (2008). WHO Guidelines for the Safe Use of Wastewater, Excreta, and Greywater, Volumes 1–4. *International Journal of Environmental Studies*, 65(1), 157–176. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207230701846598.
- 207. Voulvoulis, N. (2018). Water reuse from a circular economy perspective and potential risks from an unregulated approach. *Current Opinion in Environmental Science and Health*, 2, 32–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coesh.2018.01.005.
- 208. Viviani, G., & Iovino, M. (2004). Wastewater reuse effects on soil hydraulic conductivity. Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering, 130(6), 476–484.
- 209. Vunain, E., Masoamphambe, E. F., Mpeketula, P. M. G., Monjerezi, M., & Etale, A. (2019). Evaluation of coagulating efficiency and waterborne pathogens reduction capacity of Moringa oleifera seed powder for the treatment of domestic wastewater from Zomba, Malawi. *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering*, 7(3), 103118.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2019.103118.

- 210. Vries, D., Bertelkamp, C., Schoonenberg Kegel, F., Hofs, B., Dusseldorp, J., Bruins, J. H., de Vet, W., & van den Akker, B. (2017). Iron and manganese removal: Recent advances in modeling treatment efficiency by rapid sand filtration. *Water Research*, 109(5), 35–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.11.032</u>.
- Wade Miller, G. (2006). Integrated concepts in water reuse: managing global water needs.
 Desalination, 187(1–3), 65–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2005.04.068</u>
- 212. Wang, L. K., Wang, M.-H. S., Shammas, N. K., & Holtorff, M. S. (2021). Independent Physicochemical Wastewater Treatment System Consisting of Primary Flotation Clarification, Secondary Flotation Clarification, and Tertiary Treatment. In *Growth and Change* (Vol. 51, Issue 3, pp. 189–227). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-54642-7_6
- 213. Watson, J. G., Tropp, R. J., Kohl, S. D., Wang, X., & Chow, J. C. (2017). Filter Processing and Gravimetric Analysis for Suspended Particulate Matter Samples. *Aerosol Science and Engineering*, 1(2), 93–105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s41810-017-0010-4</u>.
- Warsinger, D. M., Chakraborty, S., Tow, E. W., Plumlee, M. H., Bellona, C., Loutatidou, S., Karimi, L., Mikelonis, A. M., Achilli, A., & Ghassemi, A. (2018). A review of polymeric membranes and processes for potable water reuse. *Progress in Polymer Science*, *81*, 209–237.
- 215. Wegelin, M. (1996). Surface Water Treatment by Roughing Filters: A Design, Construction, and Operation Manual (p. 163). <u>https://www.ircwash.org/resources/surface-</u> water-treatment-roughing-filters-design-construction-and-operation-manual
- Wood, M., Simmonds, L., MacAdam, J., Hassard, F., Jarvis, P., & Chalmers, R. M. (2019).
 Role of filtration in managing the risk from Cryptosporidium in commercial swimming pools
 a review. *Journal of Water and Health*, 17(3), 357–370.

https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2019.270.

- 217. Wong, J. M., Farmerie, J. E., & Wang, L. K. (2021). Operation and Performance of Clari-DAF® System for Water Purification (Vol. 1, Issue 8). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-54642-7_9.
- 218. World Bank 2010. Improving Wastewater Use in Agriculture: An Emerging Priority.
- 219. Wypysek, D., Rall, D., Wiese, M., Neef, T., Koops, G.-H., & Wessling, M. (2019). Shell and lumen side flow and pressure communication during permeation and filtration in a multicore polymer membrane module. *Journal of Membrane Science*, 584(2), 254–267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2019.04.070</u>.
- 220. WHO (2018). Guidelines on sanitation and health. In World Health Organization. <u>http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/publications/guidelines-on-sanitation-and-health/en/.</u>
- 221. WHO (2006). Guidelines for the safe use of wastewater, excreta and greywater: Wastewater use in agriculture (Volume II). Retrieved from persistent URL: http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/wastewater/gsuweg2/en/index.html.
- 222. Wu, J., Zhao, Y., Qi, H., Zhao, X., Yang, T., Du, Y., Zhang, H., & Wei, Z. (2017). Identifying the key factors that affect the formation of humic substances during different materials composting. Bioresource Technology, 244(374), 1193–1196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.08.100.
- Winpenny, J., Heinz, I., Koo-Oshima, S., Salgot, M., Collado, J., Hernandez, F., & Torricelli, R. (2010). The wealth of waste: the economics of wastewater use in agriculture. Water Reports, (35).
- 224. World Bank 2010. Improving Wastewater Use in Agriculture: An Emerging Priority.

- 225. Xiao, R., Wei, Y., An, D., Li, D., Ta, X., Wu, Y., & Ren, Q. (2019). A review of the research status and development trend of equipment in water treatment processes of recirculating aquaculture systems. Reviews in Aquaculture, 11(3), 863–895. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12270.
- 226. Yuan, S., Tan, Z., & Huang, Q. (2018). Migration and transformation mechanism of nitrogen in the biomass–biochar–plant transport process. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 85, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020.110691.
- 227. Yesil, H., & Tugtas, A. E. (2019). Removal of heavy metals from leaching effluents of sewage sludge via supported liquid membranes. Science of the Total Environment, 693(4), 133608. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.133608.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Wastewater Sludge Properties for Before and After Filtration

Contaminant	Before	After	Removal Efficiency (%)
	Filtration	Filtration	
Physical			
pH	6.20	6.61	29.89
Temperature	22.71	29.50	23.02
EC	51.67	3.2	93.81
TDS	102.67	0	100
TSS	3191.67	105.0	96.71
Turbidity	8198.67	19.0	99.77
Chemical			
Salinity	201.00	0.002	99.99
Dissolved Oxygen	1.85	102.67	98.2
Chemical Oxygen Demand	16.00	24.67	54.19
Biochemical Oxygen Demand	0.95	6.74	85.91
Nutrient			
Nitrate Nitrogen	8.190	1.03	87.42
Ammonium Nitrogen	0.738	1.43	48.39
Phosphate Phosphorus	0.023	0.10	77
Potassium	0.400	0.47	14.89
Microbial			
Total Coliform	200	100	50
Faecal Coliform	60	8	86.67
E. coli	25	4	84
Salmonella spp	0	0	0

Parameter						FAO, 2015/WHO, 2006/EPA, 2008
Name	Abbreviation	Mean	±SD	Minimum	Maximum	Guideline
Physical						
Power of Hydrogen	pH (pH units)	7.74	0.09	7.65	7.82	6.0 - 8.5
Temperature	T (°C)	28.00	0.36	27.60	28.30	< 30
Electrical Conductivity	EC (μ S/cm)	46.87	1.17	45.98	48.20	0-3
Total Dissolved Solids	TDS (mg/L)	32.19	0.32	31.92	32.54	0 - 2000
Chemical						
Calcium	Ca+	6.40	0.20	6.20	6.60	-
Magnesium	Tot. Hardness	2.07	0.12	2.00	2.20	-
Sodium	Na+	1.23	0.21	1.00	1.40	-
Chloride	Cl-	2.06	0.12	1.98	2.20	-
Bicarbonate	HCO3-	12.00	0.20	11.80	12.20	-
Calcium Carbonate	CaCO3	15.87	0.12	15.80	16.00	-
	TKN	28.13	0.12	28.00	28.20	-
Chemical Oxygen Demand	COD	6.97	0.21	6.80	7.20	0 - 1
Dissolved Oxygen	DO	7.07	0.31	6.80	7.40	0 - 250
Biological Oxygen Demand	BOD	5.80	0.40	5.40	6.20	0 - 50.0
Sulphate	SO_4	14.48	0.24	14.30	14.75	-
Nutrient						
Nitrate Nitrogen	NO ₃ -N (mg/L)	5.60	0.15	5.50	5.78	0-10.0
Nitrite Nitrogen	NO ₂ -N (mg/L)	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0 - 5.0
Ammonium Nitrogen	NH ₄ -N (mg/L)	1.43	0.05	1.39	1.49	0 - 2.0
Phosphate Phosphorus	PO_4 -N (mg/L)	0.07	0.01	0.06	0.07	0 - 1
Potassium	K^+ (mg/L)	0.22	0.02	0.20	0.24	-
Microbiological						
Total Coliform	(cfu/100ml)	1.00		0.00		0-400
E. coli	(cfu/100ml)					0-10

Appendix 2: Summary Statistics of Water Quality Parameters Found in Dugout Water

Parameter						FAO, 2015/WHO, 2006/EPA, 2008
Name	Abbreviation	Mean	±SD	Minimum	Maximum	Guideline
Physical						
Power of Hydrogen	pH (pH units)	6.20	0.26	6.04	6.50	6.0 - 8.5
Temperature	T (°C)	22.71	0.15	22.61	22.88	< 30
Electrical Conductivity	EC (μ S/cm)	202.67	8.50	194.00	211.00	0 – 3
Total Dissolved Solids	TDS (mg/L)	102.67	4.93	97.00	106.00	0 - 2000
Total Suspended Solids	TSS (mg/L)	3191.67	541.30	2630.00	3710.00	0 - 50.0
Turbidity	-	8198.67	1123.80	7208.00	9420.00	0 - 75
Chemical						
Salinity	Salinity	201.00	0.21	200.76	201.24	0.7 – 3
Chemical Oxygen Demand	COD (mg/L)	16.00	0.2	15.8	16.2	0 - 1
Dissolved Oxygen	DO (mg/L)	1.85	0.05	1.80	1.90	0 - 250
Biological Oxygen Demand	BOD (mg/L)	0.95	0.01	0.94	0.96	0 - 50.0
Nutrient						
Nitrate Nitrogen	NO ₃ -N	1.03	0.12	0.90	1.10	0 - 10.0
Nitrite Nitrogen	(mg/L)	0E-7	0E-8	0.00	0.00	0 - 5.0
Ammonium Nitrogen	NO ₂ -N	1.43	0.098	1.36	1.54	0 - 2.0
Phosphate Phosphorus	(mg/L)	0.096	0.06	0.06	0.17	0 - 1
Potassium	NH4-N	0.47	0.13	0.33	0.57	
	(mg/L)					
	PO ₄ -N					
	(mg/L)					
	K^+ (mg/L)					
Microbiolo	gical					
Total Coliform	(cfu/100ml)		1.00	1.00	1.00	0-400
Faecal Coliform	(cfu/100ml)		1.00	1.00	1.00	0 – 10
E. coli	(cfu/100ml)		1.00	1.00	1.00	0 - 10
Salmonella spp	(cfu/100ml)		0.00	0.00	0.00	-

Appendix 3: Summary Statistics of Water Quality Parameters Found in Wastewater Sludge

Parameter						
Name	Abbreviation	Mean	±SD	Minimum	Maximum	FAO, 2015/WHO, 2006/EPA, 2008
Physical						Guideline
Power of Hydrogen	pH (pH units)	5.24	0.01	5.23	5.25	6.0 - 8.5
Temperature	T (°C)	29.50	0.10	29.40	29.60	< 30
Electrical Conductivity	EC (μ S/cm)	205.00	1.00	204.00	206.00	0-5
Total Dissolved Solids	TDS (mg/L)	137.00	1.00	136.00	138.00	0-2000
Total Suspended Solids	TSS (mg/L)	80.01	0.01	80.00	80.01	0-200
Turbidity	-	116.00	1.00	115.00	117.00	0-75
Chemical						
Salinity	- (mg/L)	154.00	1.00	153.00	155.00	0.7 – 3
Dissolved Oxygen	DO (mg/L)	3.65	0.01	3.64	3.66	0 - 1
Chemical Oxygen Demand	COD (mg/L)	24.00	0.50	23.50	24.50	0-250
Biological Oxygen Demand	BOD (mg/L)	2.60	0.01	2.59	2.61	0 - 50.0
Nutrient						
Nitrate Nitrogen	NO ₃ -N	2.31	0.00	2.310	2.31	0-10.0
Ammonium Nitrogen	(mg/L)	9.34	0.00	9.337	9.34	0 - 5.0
Phosphate Phosphorus	NH ₄ -N	0.25	0.00	0.253	0.26	0-2.0
Potassium	(mg/L)	0.60	0.09	0.510	0.69	0 - 1
	PO ₄ -N					
	(mg/L)					
	K^+ (mg/L)					
Microbiological						
Total Coliform	(cfu/100ml)	180	1.00	179	181	0-400
Faecal Coliform	(cfu/100ml)	30	1.00	29	31	0 - 10
E. coli	(cfu/100ml)	12	1.00	11	13	0-10
Salmonella spp	(cfu/100ml)	0	0.00	0	0	-

Appendix 4: Summary Statistics of Water Quality Parameters Found in Pre-filtered Wastewater Sludge

Parameter		Mean	±SD	Minimum	Maximum	FAO, 2015/WHO, 2006/EPA, 2008 Guideline
Name	Abbreviation					
Physical	·					
Power of Hydrogen	pH (pH units)	6.61	0.01	6.60	6.62	6.0 - 8.5
Temperature	T (°C)	29.50	0.10	29.40	29.60	< 30
Electrical Conductivity	EC (μ S/cm)	157.00	1.00	156.00	158.00	0-5
Total Dissolved Solids	TDS (mg/L)	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0 - 2000
Total Suspended Solids	TSS (mg/L)	105.00	1.00	104.00	106.00	0 - 200
Turbidity	-	19.00	0.50	18.50	19.50	0-75
Chemical						
Salinity	- (mg/L)	0.002	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.7 – 3
Dissolved Oxygen	DO (mg/L)	102.67	4.93	97.74	107.6	0 - 1
Chemical Oxygen Demand	COD (mg/L)	24.67	13.58	11.09	38.25	0 - 250
Biological Oxygen Demand	BOD (mg/L)	6.74	3.75	2.99	10.49	0 - 50.0
Nutrient						
Nitrate Nitrogen	NO ₃ -N	8.19	0.00	8.19	8.19	0 - 10.0
Ammonium Nitrogen	(mg/L)	0.74	0.00	0.74	0.74	0 - 5.0
Phosphate Phosphorus	NH ₄ -N	0.02	0.00	0.02	0.03	0 - 2.0
Potassium	(mg/L)	0.40	0.01	0.39	0.41	0 - 1
	PO ₄ -N					
	(mg/L)					
	K^+ (mg/L)					
Biological						
Total Coliform	(cfu/100ml)	100	1.00	99	101	0-400
Faecal Coliform	(cfu/100ml)	8	1.00	7	9	0-10
E. coli	(cfu/100ml)	4	1.00	3	4	0 - 10
Salmonella spp	(cfu/100ml)	0	0.00	0	0	-

Appendix 5: Summary Statistics of Water Quality Parameters Found in Filtered Wastewater Sludge

Water Parameters	Symbols	Units	Sample 1	Sample 2	Sample 3	Average
Chemical						
Calcium	Ca^{++}	mg/L	0.00228	0.00198	0.0027	0.002
Magnesium	Mg^{++}	mg/L	0.003442	0.06123	0.0677	0.044
Sodium	Na ⁺	mg/L	0.02228	0.02482	0.0562	0.034
Chloride	Cl	mg/L	14.6	16.2	12.8	14.533
Bicarbonate	HCO ₃ -	mg/L	50	70	60	60.000
SAR	SAR	mg/L	0.1323	0.13957	0.1365	0.136
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen	TKN	mg/L	28	28.2	28	28.067
Chemical Oxygen Demand	COD	mg/L	9	32	33	24.667
Dissolved Oxygen	DO	mg/L	106	105	97	102.667
Biological Oxygen Demand	BOD	mg/L	2.42	8.61	9.21	6.747
Oxidation Reduction Potential	ORP	mV	104.4	92	102.5	99.633
Nutrients						
Nitrate Nitrogen	$NO_3 - N$	mg/L	1.1	0.9	1.0	1.000
Nitrite Nitrogen	$NO_2 - N$	mg/L	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Ammonium Nitrogen	NH4 -N	mg/L	1.36	1.54	1.38	1.427
Phosphate Phosphorus	PO ₄ -N	mg/L	0.06	0.06	0.17	0.097
Potassium	\mathbf{K}^+	mg/L	0.3278	0.4968	0.5742	0.466
Physical						
Power of Hydrogen	pН		6.5	6.04	6.07	6.203
Temperature	T	°C	22.61	22.88	22.65	22.713
Electrical Conductivity	EC	µs/cm	203	211	194	202.667
Total Dissolved Solids	TDS	mg/L	106	105	97	102.667
Total Suspended Solids	TSS	mg/L	2630	3235	3710	3191.667
Colour		Pt.co	102	44	103	83.000
Turbidity		NTU	7208	7968	9420	8198.667
Total Volatile Solids	TVS	Mg/L	705500	620000	709500	678333.333

Appendix 6: Results for Sludge Analysis

Water Parameters	Symbols	Units	Sample 1	Sample 2	Sample 3	Average
Chemical						
Calcium	Ca ⁺⁺	mg/L	6.4	6.2	6.6	6.40
Total hardness		mg/L	2.0	2.0	2.2	2.07
Sodium	Na^+	mg/L	1.3	1.0	1.4	1.23
Chloride	Cl	mg/L	2.0	1.98	2.2	2.06
Bicarbonate	HCO ₃ -	mg/L	12.2	11.8	12.0	12.00
Calcium hardness	CaCO ₃	mg/L	16	15.8	15.8	15.87
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen	TKN	mg/L	28	28.2	28	28.07
Chemical Oxygen Demand	COD	mg/L	7.2	6.8	6.9	6.97
Dissolved Oxygen	DO	mg/L	7.0	7.4	6.8	7.07
Biological Oxygen Demand	BOD	mg/L	5.8	5.4	6.2	5.80
Sulphate	SO_4	mg/L	14.75	14.50	15.30	14.85
Nutrients						
Nitrate Nitrogen	$NO_3 - N$	mg/L	5.498	5.781	5.532	5.60
Nitrite Nitrogen	$NO_2 - N$	mg/L	0.011	0.011	0.021	0.01
Ammonium Nitrogen	NH_4 -N	mg/L	1.387	1.442	1.485	1.44
Phosphate Phosphorus	PO ₄ -N	mg/L	0.068	0.06	0.07	0.07
Potassium	\mathbf{K}^+	mg/L	0.2	0.24	0.21	0.22
Physical						
Power of Hydrogen	pН		7.75	7.65	7.82	7.74
Temperature	Т	°C	28.1	27.6	28.3	28.00
Electrical Conductivity	EC	µs/cm	48.20	46.43	45.98	46.87
Total Dissolved Solids	TDS	mg/L	31.92	32.12	32.54	32.19
Turbidity		NTU	37	36.57	37.23	36.93

Appendix 7: Dugout Water Physic-chemical and Nutrient Composition

Microbial Parameters	Unit	Value	WHO	Ghana
			Guideline	Standards
Total Coliform	cfu/100ml	50	0	0
Faecal Coliform	cfu/100ml	0	0	0
E. coli	cfu/100ml	0	0	0
Salmonella spp	cfu/100ml	4	0	0

Appendix 8: Dugout Water Microbiological Composition

Water Parameters	Symbols	Units	Sample 1	Sample 2	Sample 3	Average
Physical						
Power of Hydrogen	pН	mg/L	5.24	5.25	5.23	5.24
Temperature	Т	mg/L	29.5	29.4	29.6	29.5
Electrical Conductivity	EC	mg/L	205	204	206	205
Total Dissolved Solids	TDS	mg/L	137	136	138	137
Total Suspended Solids	TSS	mg/L ma/L	80.0	80.01	80.01	80.0
Turbidity	NTU	mg/L mg/I	116	117	115	116
Odor		iiig/L	-	-	-	
Chemical						
Salinity		mg/L	154	155	153	154
Dissolved Oxygen	DO	mg/L	3.65	3.66	3.64	3.65
Chemical Oxygen Demand	COD	mg/L	24.0	24.50	23.50	24.0
Biological Oxygen Demand	BOD	mg/L	2.60	2.61	2.59	2.60
Nutrients						
Nitrate Nitrogen	$NO_3 - N$	mg/L	2.311	2.310	2.312	2.311
Ammonium Nitrogen	NH_4 -N	mg/L	9.338	9.337	9.339	9.338
Phosphate Phosphorus	PO ₄ -N	mg/L	0.254	0.255	0.253	0.254
Potassium	\mathbf{K}^+	mg/L	0.6	0.69	0.51	0.6

Appendix 9: Result of Pretreated Wastewater Sludge

Appendix IV. Filtered water	Appendix	10:	Filtered	Water
-----------------------------	----------	-----	----------	-------

Water Parameters	Symbols	Units	Sample 1	Sample 2	Sample 3	Average
Physical						
Power of Hydrogen	рН	mg/L	6.61	6.62	6.60	6.61
Temperature	Т	mg/L	29.5	29.4	29.6	29.5
Electrical Conductivity	EC	mg/L	157	156	158	157
Total Dissolved Solids	TDS	mg/L	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1
Total Suspended Solids	TSS	mg/L	105	106	104	105
Turbidity	NTU	mg/L	19.0	18.5	19.5	19.0
Odor			-	-	-	
Chemical						
Salinity		mg/L	201	203	199	201
Dissolved Oxygen	DO	mg/L	1.85	1.80	1.90	1.85
Chemical Oxygen Demand	COD	mg/L	16.0	15.8	16.2	16.0
Biological Oxygen Demand	BOD	mg/L	0.95	0.96	0.94	0.95
Nutrients						
Nitrate Nitrogen	$NO_3 - N$	mg/L	8.190	8.189	8.191	8.190
Ammonium Nitrogen	NH4 -N	mg/L	0.738	0.739	0.737	0.738
Phosphate Phosphorus	PO ₄ -N	mg/L	0.023	0.020	0.026	0.023
Potassium	\mathbf{K}^+	mg/L	0.4	0.39	0.41	0.4

Microbial Parameters	Unit	Value	WHO	Ghana
			Guideline	Standards
Total Coliform	cfu/100ml	180	0	0
Faecal Coliform	cfu/100ml	30	0	0
E. coli	cfu/100ml	12	0	0
Salmonella spp	cfu/100ml	0	0	0

Appendix 11: Pretreated Wastewater Sludge

Appendix 12: Filtered Wastewater Sludge

Microbial Parameters	Unit	Value	WHO	Ghana
			Guideline	Standards
Total Coliform	cfu/100ml	100	0	0
Faecal Coliform	cfu/100ml	8	0	0
E. coli	cfu/100ml	4	0	0
Salmonella spp	cfu/100ml	0	0	0

Appendix 13: Pictures of Field Work







Tighten of poly tank connectors



Fixing of PVC elbow



Washing of filter material



Fixing of PVC pipe distribution network system in filtration tank



Cutting of a PVC pipe with a PVC cutter